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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

Case No. 09-cv-05796 CW

TODD ASHKER, et al.,
: ORDER TG BEFILED UNBER-

Plzintiffs, -SEAL ON MOTION TO ENFORCE
ANTI-RETALIATION PROVISION
A\ OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
GAVIN NEWSOM, et al., . (Re: Dkt. No. 1698-2)
Defendants.

Now before the C.ourt is Plaintiffs’ motion for de novo review of the magistrate judge’s
denial of IPIair;tiffs’ motion to enforce the anti-retaliation provision of Paragraph 54 of the |
Settlement Agreement (SA). The retaliation alieged involves the housing placement of class
member and named Plaintiff Todd Ashker.! Docket No. 1698-2. Plaintiffs also move to exclude
the expert opinions of OCS #1 , Defendants’ non-retained expert on prison gangs.
Defendants oppose Plaintiffs’ motions. Docket No. 1705-2. The Court previously granted a third
Plaintiffs’ motion for de novo review, requix"ing Defendants’ production of documents relevant to
Ashker’s housing placements. See Docket No. 1716. For the reasons set forth below, the Court
construes the magistrate judge’s rulings as proposed findings and recommendations and reviews

them de novo. The Court accepts the magistrate judge’s findings in part and rejects them in part,

! This motion contained a request for an adverse inference based on Defendants’
destruction of certain evidence, which the magistrate judge denied. Plaintiffs also seek de novo
review of that ruling.
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' and concludes that Plaintiffs have established bya prcponderancé of the evidence that Defendants
substantially violated Paragraph 54’s anti-retaliation provision in Ashker’s housing placements.
FINDINGS OF FACT

L. Relevant provisions of the settlement agreement

A detailed description of the allegations and claims in this class action is set forth in the
Court’s order of February 2, 2022. See Docket No. 1579. The parties entered into the SA in
August 2015. See SA, Docket No. 424-2. Paragraph 54 of the SA contains an anti-retaliation
provision that prohibits Defendants from “retaliat[ing] against any class representative, class
member, or other prisoner due to their participation in any aspect of this litigation or the
Agreement.” SA 1[ 54. Allegations of retaliation may be made to the magistrate judge in
accordance with the pllocedures set forth in Paragraph 53. Id. Paragraph 53 provides, in relevant
part, that Plaintiffs may seek an orde_r enforcing the SA by filing a motion before the magistrate
judge. Id §53. If Plaintiffs demonstrate substantial noncompliance by a preponderance of the
evidenée, then the ﬁagistrate judge may issue aI; order to achieve substantial compliance, which
shall be subject to review under 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(B). Id. 'fhe SA also contains a provision
in Paragraph 27 permitting the Departmental Review Board (DRB) to place prisoners in the
Restricted Custody General Population (RCGP) if “there is a substantial threat to their personal
safety should they be released to the General Population as determined by a preponderance of the
evidence[.]” Id. §27. Prisoners placed in RCGP pursuant to Paragraph 27 may be retained there
“until such time that the inmate can safely be housed in a general population environment.” Id.
The Institutional Ciassification Committee (ICC) “shall verify” every 180 days “whether there
continues to be a demonstrated threat to the inmate’s personal safety; and if such threat no longer
exists the case shal! be referred to the [DRB] for review of housing placement as soon as
practicable.” Id.
1I. Aﬂalysis of' the evidence presented ir c(;nnection with Ashker’s retaliation allegations

For the reasons discussed in the Conclusions of Law below, the Court construes all of the
magistrate judge’s rulings as proposed findings and recommendations under 28 U.S.C.

§ 636(b)(1)(B) and, as such, the Court reviews them de novo under 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(C) and
' 2
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considers the arguments and evidence presented to the magistrate judge as if no decision had been

rendered by the magistrate judge.

-

Named Plaintiff and class member Todd Asbhker and another class member, Danny
Troxell, -ﬁled the original lawsuit that became this class action. See Docket No. 1. Later in the
litigation, Ashker was selected by other prisoners to be oﬁe of the main representatives for class
members in this action in light of his decades-long experience in challenging CDCR policies and
practices. See Ashker Decl. ] 2-4, Docket No. 1599-4. Ashker participated in the negotiation of
the SA and has participated and taken a “leadership role” in semi-annual compliance meetings that
involve “CDCR officials.” Id. § 3. Ashker believes his litigation efforts against CDCR have made
him well known, influential, and respected among the CDCR prisoner population as a whole. /d.
99 4-5. He also believes that his role in this litigation is well known to CDCR and its employees.
Id. 193, 6. Plaintiffs presented evidence, which Defendants have not disputed, showing that
Ashker’s placement in RCGP on the basis of threats to his safety would diminish his influence
over other prisoners and would likely result in his removal as a representative for class members in
this action, because RCGP placement would stigmatize Ashker. See, e.g., Ashker Decl. 118,27;
Prisoner f)ccl. €9 5-7, Docket No. 1600-4 (Ex. CA); Prisoner Decl. 1]11 3-5, Docket No. 1600-5
(Ex. CD). '

Ashker has-becn in CDCR custody sin;:e January 1985 and spent more than twenty-nine
years in solitar)} confinement in the Special Housing Unit (SHU) at Pelican Bay State Prison
tPBSP). Ashker Decl. § 2. Following his release from the SHU as a result of the settlement of
this lawsuit, Defendants housed him in t}_le general p;)pulation (GP) at Kern Valley State Prison
(KVSP). Ashker arrived there on February 12, 2016. While he was in GP at KVSP, Ashker
allegedly expericncéd retaliation by KVSP staff. Plaintiffs brought those all;egations before the
magistrate judge on March 16,.2017, by way of a letter brief. See Docket No. 1599-2 (Ex. CF).
The retaliation that Plaintiffs alleged included that staff had spread harmful and false rumors about

Ashker to the prisoner population to create tensions between him and other prisoners. Id. at 3-4.
3
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Nonetheless, Ashker resided in GP for approximately fifteen months without experiencing
any threats to his satety, until -
N * o o o o oo o P PP o o PR, - -

¢l He became “single-mindedly focused on how to get a phone call with her to make sure she

was safe.” d. [

Ashker was then placed in Administrative Seg}egation (ASU).

That same day, KVSP #1 - notified high-level CDCR officials ]
I I R Q41

responded to the email a few minutes later, thanking Kvsp#1 for the update. d.

Others were copied on HQ #1 response, includingHQ #2 LSHQ#3
| HQ#4
(who reported directly tcHQ #1 | HQ #5 '
and HQ #6 ‘ ' On that same
day, or shortly thereafter, HQ#1 received a briefing fromHQ #4 relating to |G
I 2nd he asked HQ #4  to keep him informed. HQ #1_
The next day, I Ashker was allowed to call his attorney, who assured him that

he would try to contact his fiancée. Ashker De=cl. § 16.

I O 2

| . 4
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Il RCGP placements and retentions are not being made in accordance with Paragraph 27 of the
SA. This is relevant because, as will be discussed below, Defendants contend that RCGP

placements and retentions are not adverse actions in that the RCGP is being administered as

Plaintiffs negotiated. ocs +3

I s ¢
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Y < <2! retention in RCGP

without verification of whether safety threats continue to exist is inconsistent with Paragraph 27.

|
I
_I Bl Ashker did so because he came to believe that

his “concerns had been resolved” and-that his loved ones were well, after he was allowed to speak

with his lawyer [
On the same date Ashker asked to be released from ASU, May 10,2017, kvsp #1emailed

HQ #3 | who was responsible for monitoring the SA. See Docket No. 1594-9 at ECF header page
23 (Exhibit I); HQ#1 Dep. Tr. at 13. Kvsp#1 informedHQ #3 of Ashker’s request. Docket No.
1594-9 at ECF header page 23 (Exhibit I). HQ #'3 responded, “I assume you are retaining to
complete safety investigation” and asked KvspP #1 to call her cell phone. Id.

Also on the ;amc date, May 10, 2017, HQ #3 sent an email toHQ#1 forwarding the email
fromKVSP #1 HQ#1 Dep. Tr. at 10-15. Later that day, HQ#1 replied to the email fromHQ #3
copying HQ #5 | HQ#4 | and others, and stating, “HQ #4, I would be interested in what . . . our
plan is at this point.” Id. at 14-17.

On May 11, 2017, the KVSP ICC had an initial hearing and elected to retain Ashker in
ASU pending an in:vcstigalion into possible concéms for his safety. Docket No. 1594-9 at ECF
headér page 28 (Ex. J). '

In a declaration executed on February :25, 2022, Ashker testified that he does not belicve

that he is in danger from the Aryan Brotherhood (AB)
. .
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|
|
I o1 d put [him] in the best position to get a call with [his]
lawyer™ to check on the status of his family. Ashker Decl.  17.

The Court credits Ashker’s testimony || NN
|
I otivated by a desire to be permitted to call his
attorney to ask about his family. | R
.|
I I,
|
|
I

B. KVSP’s ICC determined that Ashker should be rele{ased to GP,m

m based on the recommendation of KVSF’s |
1eutenant, adopted by the KVSP Warden and other KVSP administrators

Institutional Gang Investigator (IGI), | < 's° #> was assigned to
investigate Ashker’s safety ||

On Maﬂr 15,2017, a few days before he finalized a confidential memorandum summarizing
his investigation into Ashker’s safety, Xvsp# sent an email tcKvsp #1 stating that he received a
“suxprfse Call-[HQ #7 : [of the High Security Mission] digging on info for.
Ashker.” Docket Mo. 1594-9 at ECF header pages 41-42 (Ex. K). HQ#7 was “asking for any
new infor;'nation such as kites or documentation indicating he wa-s in troublc.”~ Id. xvsp2further

stated in his email thatHQ #7 had tried “buttering [him] up prior to asking about Ashker” and that
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kvsp#“could feel he [HQ #7.i wanted way more, but could probably tell that’s all he was getting.”
1d

HQ#7  calitoxvse#2 on May 15, 2017, suggests that staff at CDCR headquarters tried to
influence the investigation of Ashker’s safety to ;esult in a finding that Ashker would not be safe
in GP. HQ #7 quéstions toxvse#£2 about Ashker’s safety were unusual. Kvsp#1 testified that he
was not aware of another instance in whichHQ #7 had ever reached out to IGI staff at KVSP
looking for information about a prisoner’s safety. KVSP #1 Dep. Tr. at 92. KvspP#1 also could not
recall aﬁother instance in which someone at the High Security Mission did work in preparation for
a safety review and ICC of a prisoner. Id. at 192. Defendants have offerca no explanation for

‘HQ#7 call tokvsP# nor have they pointed to any evidence indicating that it was typical for
headquarters to ask for information indicating that a prisoner would not be safe in GP.

KVSP £ investigation into Ashker’s safety is described in his confidential memorandum
B Docket No. 1594-7 at ECF header ];age 7 (Ex. D). xvse# testified that he
considered his investigét&on to be adequate. xvse#2 Dep. Tr. at 123-24, Docket No. 1554-5. He
recommended that Ashker be considered by ICC for release to GP at KVSP. Docket No, 1594-7
at ECF header page 7 (Ex. D). The memorandum was also signed by Kvsp#1 Id.

KVSP#2 investigation involved a review of documents in Ashker’s file and an interview
with him. &vse# stated in his report that he reviewed Ashker’s entire confidential file. [

_
| § g |
] I
.
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kvs? -

vse#2 believed that Ashker could safely be released to
GP at KVSP. He explained that there were few AB members at KVSP at the time and he deemed
it unlikely that they would challenge Ashker’s authority within the gang | EEEEEENEGEGEG
N - <>* > Dep. Tr. at 115,

cvse +

I A shker denied having an)”l concerns for his safety, requested to be released to
GP, and signed a Férm 128-B waiver reafﬁrmirig his desire to be released to GP. Id. [

cvse +

The Court finds that KVSP#2 conclusion that Ashker could safely program in GP reflected
KVsP#2 independent assessment of Ashker’s safety || I Dcspite HQ #7
attempt to influence KVSP#2 investigation, the record does not reveal any irregularities in KVsp #

investigation and findings as to Ashker’s safety.
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KVSP #1later attended a pre-ICC meeting with KVSP administrators during which they
adopted KVSP #£2 recommendation, KVSP #1 bep. Tr, at 86-88, 97-98, 130. KVSP #1testified that he
would not have adopted a recommendation that a prisoner should be released to GP if he believed
that there was additional information that still needed to be investigated. /d. at 98-99.

On June 1, 2017, the ICC held a hearing on Ashker’s safety and possible release to GP.
Docket No. 1595-1 (Ex. M). The ICC was chaired by Chief Deputy Warden Kvsp #3
KvsP#1 Dep. Tr. at 88. KvsP #1testified that he did not chair the ICC himself because HQ #1 was
scheduled for'a tour of KVSP that day. Id. The ICC reviewed kvsp 2| corfidential
memorandum and other confidential documents in Ashker’s file and concluded that he should be
released to GP in K¥/SP Facility B. Docket No. 1595-1 (Ex. M). The ICC advised Ashker that if
any enemy concern arises while in GP he should inform staff immediately. Id.

The Court finds that the record does not indicate any irregularities in the adoption by the
1CC, and by KVSP administrators prior to the‘ICC, of KVsP #2 recommendation to release Ashker
to GP.

On that same day, June 1, 2017, Ashker was placed on a bu.s for KVSP Facility B. Ashker
Decl. § 35, Wh;n the bus arrived at KVSP Facility B, Ashker was told not to exit the bus and he
was returned to ASU. Id. | |

C. HQ#1 unilaterally countermanded the ICC’s decision to t.'elease Ashker to GP
and Defendants failed to disclose this fact to Plaintiffs and the magistrate
judge for years

Ashker was not immediately informed why he was told not to exit the bus at the GP

facility and returned to ASU on June 1,2017. On June 2, 2017, he receivéd an Administrative
Segregation Unit Placement Notice, which stated that he was being retained in ASU “pending
further inquiry inte poséible enemy/safety concerns” at KVSP and would remain in ASU until
completion of an investigation into such concerns. Docket No. 1595-4 (Ex. T). This nhotice did
not disclose why the ICC’s determination to release Ashker to GP at KVSP had been reversed, nor

did it identify why an investigation into “possible enemy/safety concerns” was necessary. See id.

A few days later, on June 6, 2017, Ashker received a confidential disclosure form, which states:

10
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Ddgket No. 1595-1 at ECF header page 19 (Ex. O). The confidential disclosure form further states
N -
investigation has been initiated, and Ashker will be remanded to ASU pending the completion of
the investigation.? 7. .

Plaintiffs later obtained records that contradict the statemeénts in this confidential disclosure
form. The records show the phone call was accessed twice, on May 26, 2017, and again on June
6, 2017, and that the portion of the call where | s mcntioned was not
reviewed until June 6, 2017, several days after'Ashker’s remand to ASU on June 1, 2017, Docket
No. 1595-1 at ECF header pages 13-18 (Ex. P). Accordingly, the | l: ¢! could not
have been the intelligence that CDCR relied upon to return Ashker to the ASU on June 1,2017. .

In reality, the June 1, 2017, decision to return Ashker to ASU despite the ICC’s decision to
release him to GP wzas made by HQ #1[JHQ #1 Dep. Tr. at 36-41. HQ#1 took an immediate interest in
I nd subsequent events because HQ#1 considered Ashker’s situation
“significant” in light of his “stature™ by virtue of his leadership role in this litigation and the

related hunger strikes that he had organized. Id. at 8-18, 22-27. HQ#1 asked to be kept informed

about Ashker’s status ||| NN <. 2t 8-10. and he expressed to other high-

ee Docket No. at ECF header

page X. at prisoner also filed a declaration in support of Ashker’s current motion that

is consistent with what he statedm. See Prisoner Decl. §{ 1-3,
Docket No. 1600-4 (Ex. BX). The prisoner also declares that, since June 2017, he has not heard
from any prisoner that Ashker’s safety has been threatened, even though the prisoner has a-
position of influencz among prisoners and would know if Ashker was not safe. Id. {2-3.

11
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level CDCR officiais that he was interested in a “plan” after || . - 2t 14-
17. This suggests that HQ #1 countermand of the ICC’s decision would not have occurred but for
Ashker’s high-profile status as a result of his activities in this litigation.

HQ #1 reversal of the ICC’s decision was atypical. Kvsp#1 testified that he could not
recall another instance in which anyone from headquarters had overruled his ICC decisien as to
where a prisoner could safely house. Kvsp #1Dep. Tr. at 140. HQ #8 a Classification
Serviecs Unit (CSU) correctional counselor I11-who collected e,nd én'alyzed evidence for two of
Ashker’s housirig reviews, testified that she could not recall another instance other than Ashker’s
case in which an ICC’s decision to release a prisoner to GP had been overturned by somebody
other than a DRB. HQ#8 Dep. Tr. at 111.

CDCR did not reveal HQ #1 role in Ashker’s remand to ASU on June 1, 2017, to either
Plaintiffs or the magistrate judge on June 8, 2017, when the magistrate judge held a telephonic
conference on an emergency basis with respect to Ashker’s return to ASU on June 1,2017. See
Docket No. 761 (pub[ic portion of hearing transcript); Docket No, 764 (sealed portion of hearing
transcript). During that conference, Plaintiffs objected to Ashker’s return to ASU on June 1, 2017,
on the basis that he had not been provided any information as to why Defendants bélieved that an
additional investigation into his safety was necessary Docket No. 761 at 4. HQ #9 an
attorney at CDCR’s Office of Legal Affairs, responded that HQ #5 | who was also on the line,
would “shed some !1ght on the situation.” Id. at4-5. HQ #5 represented to the magxstrate judge
that a further investigation into Ashker’s safety was necessary in light of the || N
_ See Docket No. 764 at 8. As explained above, this was not the reason for
the Junc 1, 2017, abrupt reversal of the ICC’s detcrmmanon to release Ashker to GP, I
_ Nor did Defendants disclose to the magistrate -
judge on June 8, 2(}17, that it wasHQ #1 who had unilaterally countermanded the ICC’s decision.
Based on HQ #5 . representatlons, the magistrate judge ordered Defendants to investigate
Ashker’s-safety _ and to update him in two weeks as to the status of the

investigation. Jd. at 13.

12
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1 On June 21, 2017, pursuant to the magistrate judge’s order, the parties submitted a letter
2 || brief in which Defendants again failed to inform the magistrate judge of HQ #1 order to remand
3 || Ashkerto ASU on Jﬁne 1,2017. See Docket No. 1595-1 (Ex. N).. Defendants represented to the
4 |} magistrate judge that “before Ashker’s return to the general population” on June 1, 2017, pursuant
5 || tothe ICC’s determination, “CDCR discovered additional intelligenpé implicating Ashker’s
.6 safety,” and that “tQ #5 described this intelligence during the June 8 conference.” Id. (emphasis
7 || added). As noted, the intelligence described by HQ #5 on June 8 was the || NG
8 ||l but contrary to Defendants’ representations in the letter brief, [ RN
o ||
10 | - -
11 Defendants did not reveal HQ #1 involvement in Ashker’s remand to ASU until after

12 {1 Plaintiffs sought and obtained leave in August 2019, more than two years later, to conduct

13 |} discovery relating to Ashker’s allegations of retaliation. At that point the magistrate judge ordered
14 that Defendants disciose who made the June 1, 2017, order to return Ashker to ASU, and present
15 || that person for depoéition. See Docket No. 1203. The person that Defendants identified pursuant
16 || to this order was HQ #1] and HQ#1 was deposed on December 4, 2019.

17 During the November 3, 2022, hearing before the undersigned, Defendants did not dispute
18 || that they had represented to the magistrate judge, incorrectly, that Aéhker was sent back to ASU
19 || because of the |- Scc Hr'g Tr. at 17-19. The only explanation for

20 || Defendants’ having failed to reveal this to the magistrate judge in June 2017 was that there had

21 || been mistakes in ccmmunications and “crossed lines.” Id. Thz;, Court finds that Defendants’ lack
22 || of candor in failing to disclose to the magistrate judge in June 2017, and for more than two years
23 thcrcaﬁ‘er, that Askier’s remand to ASU on June 1, 2017, was personally and summarily ordered
24 || byHQ#1 is evidence of an improper retaliatory motive for rescinding Ashker’s GP placement.

25 || - During the December 4, 2019, deposition ordered by the magistrate judge, HQ#1 testified
26 || that his only motivation for remanding Ashker to ASU on June 1, 2017, was to keep him safe.

27 || HQ#1said that he léelievcd that Ashker would not be safe in GP due to comments that were made to

28 || him by two officers he encountered by chance while he was on his June 1, 2017, tour of KVSP led
13
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by Kvsp#1 HQ#1 Dep, Tr. at 36, 46-49. HQ#1 was not able to recall the names of these officers,
but he recalled that;one of them was identified by K\}LSP #1 as an IGI lieutenant who had just come
out éf Ashker’s ICé hearing. Jd. HQ# testified that this lieutenant was the “gang expert of that
institution,” id. at 48, whose “r'esponsibility is to gather all gang infonne;tion,” id. at 41. HQ#
testified that he particularly relied on this lieutenant’s statements. Id. at 40. fG#1 stated that

KVSP #1 asked the lieutenant about the results of Ashker’s hearing, and the licutenant responded
that the ICC had “released him.” Id. at 37 (internal quotation marks omitted). HQ #1 testified that
he then asked the lieutenant what he thought was going to happen, and the lieutena}nt responded, “I
think he’s going to get whacked.” Id. (internal quotation marks omittcdj. HQ #1 proceeded with the
tour. Jd. at 38-39. He did not ask the lieutenant why the ICC had recommended that Ashker be
released to GP despite the lieutenant’s belief as the “gang expert of that institution” that Ashker
would be killed there. See id. at 45-48.

HQ#1 testified that, later on the tour, he ran into an Investigation Services Unit (ISU) officer
and asked the officer what he tﬁought would happen given that Ashker “just got released from ad-
seg back to the yari ,” and the ISU officer responded, “He’s going to get assaulted.” /d. at 38
(internal quotation marks ox.nittcd). HQ#1 stated that, after thinking “about it for a lit_tlc bit,” id., he
instructed KVSP #;1 to return Ashker to the ASU on the basis that “I don’t want him in the yard.
yet,” id. (internal quotation marks omitted). | .

When asked whether he had received any new information that the ICC committee did not
have when it decided to release Ashker to GPHQ #1 responded, “I don’t know what the ICC had. 1
don’t know what tﬁéy discussed. AllI had was the discussion with the ISU lieutenant and he,said
he was going to get whacked. And I was concerned for Mr. Ashker’s safety at that. point.” Id. at
61. KVSP#1 who, as noted, adopted KVSP#2 recommendation to relcase Ashker to GP prior to
Ashker’s ICC heaﬁng after a meeting with other KVSP administrators, testified thatig# would
not have more knowledge than he about Ashker’s safetykvsp #1 Dep. Tr. at 155. fQ #1 testified
that, deépite his purported concerns for Ashker’s safety, he did not order that a further

- investigation as to vAshker’s safety be conducted. See ﬁd # Dep. Tr. at 62 '(v(rhen asked whether he

“order[ed] any safety investigation to be undertaken,” HQ#1 testified, “I didn’t, but 1 see one
14 '
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was ... [ didn’t. But I'm glad somebody did”). HQ#1 testified that he never provided any written
documentation to Ashker as to his decision to send him back to the ASU and that he left that
matter to staff, Id, at42.

It later was revealed that HQ#1 did not speak with KVSP’s IGI lieutenant on the day he
countermanded the ICC’s decision to release Ashker to GP. The sole IGI lieutenant at KVSP in
that timeframe wasxvse#] and he testified on July 21, 2020, that he was not at KVSP on June 1,
2017; he did not work that day. kvse#2Dep. Tr. at 124-27. xvse# testified that he did not speak
withHQ #10on June I, 2017: Id. at 124,

On Decembar 7, 2021, Defendants identiﬁéd two other officers in an email to Plaintiffs;
they claimed these were the people with whom HQ #1 spoke at KVSP during his tour on June 1,
2017, namely KvsSP #4 and KVSP #5 See Docket No. 1595-1 (Ex. Q).
KVSP #4 who was the acting IGI licutenant at KVSP on that day, was deposed on January 12,
2022, and he did not recall attending Ashker’s ICC on June 1, 2017, kvsp #4 Dep. Tr. at 38,
Docket No. 1595-2, or speaking with HQ #1about Ashker on that date, id. at 17. Further, although
HQ #1testified that it was Kvsp #1 who had introduced him to “the 1GI lieutenant” with whom he
spoke on June 1, 2617, HQ #1Dep. Tr. at 51, KvsP #1 testified that he was not a part of any
conversation betweenHQ #1 and KVsP #4] Kvsp #1 Dep. Tr. at 128-29.

KVSP #5 likewise could not have been the IGI lieutenant with whom HQ #1 spoke
inKvsp#1 presence after coming out of Ashker’s ICC hearing. Kvsp#5 testified on January 12,
2022, that he did not attend Ashker’s ICC hearing on June 1, 2017. .K\-/'SP #5 Dep. Tr. at 23,
Docket No. 1595-3. Neither could Kvsp #5 have been the ISU officer with whomHQ #1
pm:ported]y spoke'about Ashker, because Kvsp #5 did not recall speaking with ig #1 on that date.

Id at35-394

4xvsp#1 did testify that he was present during a conversation betweenHQ #1 and KVSP #5
on June 1, 2017, during which HQ #1 asked Kvsp #5 for his opinion on Ashker’s case and Kvsp #5
responded that he believed that Ashker would be assaulted if released to GPKvsp#1 Dep. It. at
129-30, 140. This does not salvage HQ #1 testimony because KVsP #1 acknowledged later in his
deposition that it was only after an investigation was undertaken bykvsp# to determine which staff
. members had spoken to HQ #10n June 1, 2017, that he himself “contirmed” that Kvsp #s had

15
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—

HQ #1admitted in a declaration he executed on April 16, 2022, years after his December 4,
2019, deposition, and a few months after Kvsp #4 and Kvsp #5 testified that they did not recall
speaking with HQ #1 on June 1, 2017, that he “may have been mistaken” as to whether he spoke
with an [GI lieutenant and an ISﬂ officer or “staff members of different ranks in IGI and ISU.”
HQ #1Decl. § 13, Decket No. 1627-3. In that declaration, HQ #1 also provided new explanations for
his reversal of the ICC’s decisjon to release Ashker to GP. He testified that his decision was
based, not just on the ;fatemcnts that were purportedly made to him by two officers during his"

tour, but on his rccbllcction of the murder of another prisoner after being released to GP by a DRB

O 0 N A v A W N

HQ#1 had chaired. See id, 9 8-14. HQ#1 also testified in the same declaration that he reversed the

—
<

ICC because he “wanted to make sure that a more thorough safety investigation was completed in

—
—

case the staff members were correct.” Id. | 15.

—
N

The Court finds that the inaccuracies, inconsistencies, atypicality, and shifts in HQ #1

—
W

explanations for what motivated his summary countermand of the ICC’s decision, as well as

—
~

Defendants’ lack of candor about it, renders HQ #1 explanations lacking in credibility. Instead,

—
h

they are evidence of pretext which supports a finding of retaliation. yQ #1 claimed reliance on the

officers with whom he testified he spoke on June [, 2017, in revokiﬂg Ashker’s GP placement, is

—
~N

inconsistent with other evidence in the record. But even ifHQ #1 had spoken with kvsp #5 and
p

—
==}

KVsP #4] his claimed reliance on their comments about Ashker’s safety would not have warranted

personally countermanding the ICC’s determination to release Ashker to GP. Neither attended the

N -
< O

ICC hearing or contributed significantly to the investigation into Ashker’s safety. Kvsp #1 who

N
—

signed off on the pre-ICC investigation and adopted its recommendation to release Ashker to GP,

testified that he did not believe that Kvsp #5 or KVsP #4 was more qualified than himself to

NN
w N

determine Ashker’s safe hausing. Kvsp #1Dep. Tr. at 134-35.

[\
=N

HQ#1 new axplanations in his April 16, 2022, declaration about why he reversed the

N -
w

ICC’s decision to releasc Ashker to GP also are not credible. The Court does not credit HQ #1

[\
[*))

-

3]
~J

spoken to HQ#1 in his presence. Id. at 146-48. KvsP #1does not know howxvsP 2 was able to
discover this. Id. at 143,

[N
oo
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declaration testfmor.y that the murder of another prisongr played a role in his order to return
Ashker to ASU on June 1, 2017, because he never mentioned this prisoner during his deposition
even though he testified at length about his other reasons for reversing the ICC’s decision. Nor
does the Court credit HQ #1 declaration testiﬁony that he reversed the ICC because he wanted to
make sure that a further investigation into Ashker’s safety was completed, because this is
inconsistent with his deposition testimony that he did not order an investigation but was glad
somebody else did.

A finding of pretext is further supported by the fact that g #1 reversal of the ICC’s
decision was atypical, and that thcr;: is no credible evidence indicating that HQ#1 had a better basis
for determinin.g whether Ashker would be safe in GP than KVSP’s ICC.

_ The Court firther finds that Defendants’ failure to reveal to Plaintiffs and the magistrate
judge HQ #1 involv:ement in Ashker’s remand fo ASU on June 1, 2017, is suspect and indicative
of an in-tent to hide .an improper retaliatory motive onHQ #1 part. Defendants’ failure to provide

any meaningful explanation for their lack of candor further supports that inference.

D. A second investigation was conducted by KVSP staff as to Ashker’s safety and
evidence suggests that staff from CDCR headquarters steered that
invg_stigation and its findings as well as the ICC’s RCGP recommendation

After Ashkt;,r was remanded to ASU on June 1, 2017, JHQ #1 personal order, ks # was
again tasked with investigating his safety, this time in preparation for a second ICC hearing on
June 30, 2017, to determine his housing placement. Docket No. 1595-4 (Ex. W).

‘Evidence in the record suggests that CDCR headquarters directed KVSP staff with respect
to the second ICC inves;cigatiori into Ashker’s safety and had input as to the content and substance
of important docurents generated in connection therewith. An eémail dated June 13, 2017, shows
that KVSP #1 was instructed that “all documents associated with the safety review for Ashker
should be sent to HQ #10 * at CDCR headquarters. See Docket No. 1598-2 (Ex. BI)
(emphasis added). & HQ #10 is a former JJili] of the Department of Adult Institutions. HQ#s
Dep. Tr. at 56. Another email dlated June 14, 2017, shows that HQ #10 reviewed and commented

on confidential memoranda drafted bykvse# that pertained to his re-investigation as to Ashker’s

17
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safety. Docket No. 1598-2 (Ex. BK). Emails that were sent a couple of weeks later suggest that
CDCR headquarters staff made requests as to what information should be investigated in
connection with Ashker’s safety; HQ #10 and others at headquarters evz;l\uated and approved
documents pertaini;ig to Ashker’s safety before the documents were finalized and were placed in
Ashker’s file, See Ijopket.No. 1595-4 at ECF header page 42—43 (Ex. Y) (email chain in which
xvse#2 forwards to KVSP #1 an email by CDCR headquarters staff asking xvse# to gather specific
additional information in connecftion with Ashker’s safety; xvsp# 'states togvsp #1 “If we get into
this, everything will have to be re evaluated by HQ #10 ” of headquarters, HQ #7 'of headquarters,
“and the attorneys again prior to p]aciﬁg in erms [ERMS] correct? 1 would think they would’ve
caught this prior or requested corrections prior to being approved if their were concerned”).

On June 16,-2017, xvse# finalized a confidential memorandum describing his second

investigation as to Ashker’s safety, whichkvsp #1 approved. Docket No. 1595-4 (Ex. W). kvsp#2

second investigation was comprised of two components. First, ||| [ R

¥
searches resulted in no findings regarding Ashker’s safety. Id. at ECF header page 29. Second,

xvse v fxvse « [

[ e concluded that Ashker would be targeted for murder by the AB ]
I 2 he rccommenided that the ICC refer him to DRB for a

.~

housing determination. /d. at ECF header page 33.

KVSP#2 June 16, 2017, confidential memorandum contains inaccuracies that Defendants

have not explained. First, [
. 18 ‘
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[KVSP #6

- s

KVSP #2-

cvse -
B The znomalies inKvsP#2 June 16, 2017, memorandum can be attributed to CDCR
headquarters. Because “all documents” associated with Ashker’s safety review were to be sent to
staff at CDCR headquarters for review and approval, those officials were in a position to correct
any misstatements or omissions in the documents, including inKvsp #2 memorandum. Their
failure to do so suggests an intent to conceal HQ#1 involvement in Ashker’s remand to ASU,
which bespeaks an improper motive onHQ #1 part, and to obscure facts that could undermine the
conclusionlthat Ashker would be unsafe in GP.

Documents created in preparation for the June 30, 2017, ICC hearing as to Ashker’s safety
and housing suggect that CDCR headquarters steered the ICC toward recommending that Ashker
be referred to DRB for placement in RCGP. On June 13, 2017, more thaﬁ two weeks before the
ICC hearing, HQ #1%) of CDCR headquarters emailed recommendations tckvsp #1 at KVSP as to
the information tha‘f;_should be reviewed and included in the CDC 128G form for referring Ashker

-to DRB. See Doc.k'eft No. 1595-4 (Ex. U). Kvsp #1described these recommendations as “[k]ind of

a s'tepfb'y step of what HQ wants us to include in the DRB referral 128G and Referral Memo.” 1d.
19
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In an email dated June 27, 2017, three days before the ICC hearing, HQ #3 at CDCR headquarters
instructed Kvsp #1 and his staff to “touch bases” with HQ #8] the CSU correctional counselor IIT -
who was tasked with gathering evidence and drafting documents in connection with Ashker’s
DRB, regarding “DRB prep for Ashker.” Docket No. 1599 at ECF header page 2 (Ex. BM).
Another email shows that, on June 29, 2017, a day before the ICC hearing, HQ #8 had already
prepared a draft 128G refefral memorandum stating that the “Committee determined that [Ashker]
requires a DRB review of possible safety concerns, and referred this case to the DRB for
placement consideration,” and that “CSU recommends transfer to the RCGP.” Dockf.t No. 1594-3
at ECF header pages 31-32 (Ex. AB at 6008-09). Although kvsp# testified that the KVSP ICC
“did not determine prior to its hearing whether it would refer Ashker to the DRBXVsP #1 Dep. Tr.

at 222, the Court dces not credit that testimony in light of these documents, which provide
evidence that it did. '

On June 36, 2017, the KVSP ICC recommended that Ashker be seen by the DRB for
placement in RCGP. Docket No. 1594-9 at ECF header page 29 (Ex. J).

'CDCR headquarters’ involvement in Ashker’s safety investigation and its work preceding
his June 30, 2017, ICC was unusual and not consistent with typical practices. Kvsp #1 testified
that he had never worked with HQ #10  of headquarters in connection with a safety re\}iew prior to
Ashker’s case, KvsP #1 Dep. Tr. at 192, and that he could not re.call any other instance in which he
had received instructions from headquarters about what to include in a DRB referral for a prisoner
who had not yet had a DRB hearing, id. at 2i 8'-1 9. HQ #8] the CSU correctional counselor III,
testified that she was not aware of HQ#10 [“working with CSU in connection with preparing a
case for the DRB other than Todd Ashker’s,” HQ #8 Dep. Tr. at 58, and that she could not recall
another instance in which she had been asked to work on a case beforean ICC hearing, id. at 21.

quendanfs argue in their briefs that headquarters” involvement before Ashker’s ICC was
due to the need to expedite his investigation and housing determinations in light of his pending
retaliation motion in this action. Defendants also argue that it was not unusual for headquarters
staff to answer questions by KVSP staff about prisoners’ housing placements and upcoming ICCs

and possible DRBs. The Court is not persuaded. Defendants do not explain why the need to
' 20 '
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expedite Ashker’s housing reviews and the generation of related documents would require that
CDCR headquarters staff direct, review, evaluate, and approve the contents of documents relating
to investigative findings as to Ashkerfs safety. Defendan.ts also do not explain emails showing
that KVSP staff was directed to coordinate with CDCR headquarters; these emails contradict
D;efendants’ assertions, which imply that KVSP’s contacts with headquarters originated from

KVSP staff’s questions about ICCs and DRBs.

E. Ashker’s August 4, 2017, DRB resulted in a recommendation that he be placed
in RCGP on the basis that he would be unsafe in GP, but the DRB chrono
omits information tending to show that he would be safe; that CSU had
recommended that he be released to GP; and thatHQ#4  decision to
recommend RCGP was based in part on possible retaliation by CDCR staff
against Ashker at KVSP

HQ#8 the CSU correctional officer III, was tasked with gathering and evaluating relevant
evidence and drafting a chro-no for Ashker’s August 4, 2017, DRB. HQ#8 Dep. Tr. at 19-22. The
purpose of a DRB chrono is to “document any information that is being considered or reviewed
for the hez;ring,” id at 77, and to assist the DRB chair in preparing for the hearing, id. at 32. The
correctional officer’s evaluation of the evidence involves reviewing the documents to look for
reliability and corroboration. Id. at 98. HQ #8 explained that the correctional officer assigned to
draft the chrono is responsible for making CSU’s recommendation as to where the prisoner should
be housed, which is included in the CSU recommendation section of the draft chrono that is
provided to the DRB chair for preparation for the hearing. /d. at 30-32. A CSU supervisor and
the CSU chief revié,'w the draft chrono and the CSU recommendation. Jd. Then, the draft chrono
is submitted to the DRB chair prior to the DRB hearing to assist the DRB chair in preparing for
the hearing. See id. at 32-33. The CSU’s recommendation can change during a DRB hearing but,
if it changes then, that would be memorialized in the “DRB action” portion of the chrono; the
“CSU [recommendétion] portion” of the chrono “would not change.” Id. at 37-3.9. The final
version of the chrono is issued to the prisoner after the DRB‘hcaring.

HQ#8 firsi:draft of the DRB chrono f;)r Ashker, which she circulated by email on June
29, 2017, stated that CSU recommended that Ashker should be housed in RCGP. See Docket No.

1596 at ECF heade= pager 32 (Ex. AB). However, on July 10, 2017, Ashker submitted a rebuttal
' ‘ ' 21
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and obj ections to the ICC’s referral to the DRB, recommending placement in RCGP. Docket No, .
1596 at ECF header page 38 (Ex. AC). He objected that there was insufficient evidence of
substantial threats to his safety if he were released to GP. Id. at ECF header pages 41-68. He
argued that [ . I

) 2nd _ would not lead to his assault by other
" prisoners as a violation of AB rules. Id. at ECF header pages 46-49. He also identified by name

validated AB members who he claimed || << teleased to GP and have not
been murdered or assaulted.. Jd. ' ' ‘

On July 12, 2017, HQ #8 emailed to a colleague an updated draft of Ashker’s DRB chrono,
which took into account Ashker’s rebuttal. Docket No. 1596 at ECF header page 87 (Ex. AC). In
the section containing the CSU’s recommendaiion, the updafed draft DRB chrono recommended
“releasg: to the KVSP GP.” Id. at ECF header page 83.

On August 3, 2017, the day before the DRB hearing, HQ 48 participa.ted in a pre-DRB
meeting withuQ#4 ~ CSU ChiefHQ #11 , Office of Legal Affairs attorney HQ# and others.
See Docket No. 1596 at ECF header page 117 (Ex. AE). Before the meeting, HQ #8 emailed to Ho#
an updated draft of the DRB chrono (hereinafter referred to as the August 3, 2017, draft chrono),
which Plaintiffs reﬁresent was the version of the draft chrono that was presented to the DRB chair
before the DRB hearing. See Docket No. 1596 (Ex. AD). The fact that HQ #8 had emailed a draft
chrono to an attorney from CDCR’s Office of Legal Affairs was unusual. During her deposition,
HQ#8 clould not recall another instance where she had provided drafts of DRB chronos to people in
the Office of Legal-Affairs. HQ#s Dep. Tr. at 144.

The August 3, 2017, draft chrono, like HQ #3  July 12,2017, draft chrono, took into
account Ashker’s July 10; 2017, rebuttal and stated that the CSU recommended that Ashker be
released to GP; the August 3, 2017, draft chrono contained additional information indicating that
concerns for Ashker’s safety in GP were unsupported. See Docket No, 1596 (Ex. AD). It
identified and evaluated prior instances, based on HQ #8 research, in which_
) 51

actions had not created safety concerns. See id. at ECF header pages 109-10. 1t stated, based on
22
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those prior instances, some of which Ashker had discussed in his July 10, 2017, rebuttal, that
Ashker’s argument in his rebuttal that he would not be unsafe as a result of || N

I had “some merit.” See id. HQ#8 testified that she had no reason to believe that this

" information was not accurate. HQ #8 Dep. Tr. at 132-33. The August 3, 2017, draft chrono also

relied on the lack of evidence that Ashker_ Id

at ECF header pages 108, 110.

"Plaintiffs argue, and Defendants dispute, that the August 3, 2017, draft chrono was the
version of the éhroho that was presented tcHQ #4 | the DRB chair and decision-maker, before the
August 4; 2017, DRB hearing to assist her in preparing for the hearing. HQ#4 testified that she
understood that HQ #8  August 3, 2017, draft chrono, recommending GP and containing the
supportive information discussed above, reflected the CSU’s final recommendation to her before
the DRB hearling and for what should be included in the chrono. See HQ#4 Dep. T(. at,73
(HQ#8 draft chrono recommending GP, GGG V< CSU's
recommendation for the final document with the exception of the [DRB’s] final decision™); id. at
78-79 (CSU’s recommendation to release Ashker to KVSP GP was “one piece” of information -
that she took into consideration in making her DRB recommendation). In light of HQ#4
testimony, the Coust finds that the August 3, 2017, draft chrono was the version of the chrono that
was presented to HQ#4  before the August 4, 2017, DRB hearing.

Pursuant to typical procedures, the information about prior instances of AB-rules
violations that did not lead to safety concerns and about the lack of evidence that Ashker i

I should have been included in the final DRB chrono issued to Ashker after the' DRB

hearing. BothHQ#s andHQ#4 testificd that, || GGG
I G 4 Dep. Tr. at 22-
23, 73; HQ#8 Dep. T r. at 79-80. The information in question | " the
August 3, 2017, draft chrono | - 5:c: ¢ &> Docket No.

1596 at ECF header pagc 109 (August 3, 2017, draft DRB chrono stating, [ RN
23
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I - (-t “CSU noted ASHKER’s rebuttal forwarded by KVSP to CSU on

7/11/2017, and note there is some merit in ASHKER’s defense specifically rélevant to portions in’

" which he described inmates released to a GP subsequent to violations in the AB STG-1 rules

similar to what is being said about ASHKER™); see also id. (August 3, 2017, draft DRB chrono
stating, [ - - in rcvicw of another AB STG-1

‘member’s file, “it was noted the inmate population was aware of the AB mcmbcr—

I < I ovcr, it was determined the

inmate did not to [sic] have safety concerns, and programmed on a GP without issues™); id. at ECF

“header page 110 (August 3, 2017, draft DRB chrono stating, |

[ LRE is no documentation in the file that ASHKER_
e [ S Fuicr, according 01Q 45

the CSU’s recommendation to the DRB chair before the hearing, which in this case was a
rf;commcndation for GP placement, should have remained in the CSU recommendation portion of
the final chrono issued to Ashker, even if the DRB chose not to follow that recommendation,

HQ #8 Dep. Tr. at 37-39. . ‘

During the August 3, 2017, pre-DRB meeting thatHQ #8] HQ #4 | #e#, and others attended,
the participants reviewed HQ #8  draft DRB chrono “from beginning to end.” /d. at 177. HQ #8
testified thét she did not remember the specifics of what was.discussed. Jd. at 173-80. The Court
finds that the August 3, 2017, draft chrono was the version of the chrono that was discussed during
the August 3, 2017;.pre-DRB meeting. This finding is supported by HQ#4  testimony that the
August 3, 2017, draft.chrono reflected the CSU’s recommendation to her before the DRB hearing,
and by the fact that the August 3, 2017, draft chrono is the version of the chrono that HQ #8
emailed to He# pricr to the pre-DRB meeting. '

HQ#8 testifi=d that she may have taken notes during the August 3, 2017, pre-DRB meeting
but she no longer Lzs them in her possession and the notes could have been destroyed because she
was‘ only told “not.lbng ago” thét she should retain her notes. HQ #s Dep. Tr. at 171-73. In light of
Defcndénts’ failure to preserve HQ #8  notes of the pre-DRB meeting, Plaintiffs requested an

adverse inference that the notes would have established retaliatory motive. As explained in the
24
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Conclusions of Law, the Court draws a weak inference that HQ #8  notes would have supported
the retaliatory motive required to establish a violation of Paragraph 54. The notes of this pre-DRB
meeting ;:ould have revealed why information contained in the August 3, 2017, draft chrono about
prior instances of AB-rules violations that did not lead to safety concerns and about the |l
I - - V!l os the CSU’s recommendation for GP placement,
were omitted from the finaj version of the chrono that was issued to Ashker after the August 4,
2017, DRB hearing, as discussed in more detail below.

The DRB hearing took place on August 4, 2017. Before the DRB,HQ #4 was aware of
Ashker because “his name is obviously well known in our business” in that “he is one of the
named plaintiffs in the litigation. The SHU litigation.” HQ #4 Dép. Tr.at7. HQ#4 Wwas
involved in correspondence regarding | bccause Ashker is a “high-
broﬁle inmate,” id. at 9-10; this included the email about coming up with a “plan,” see HQ #1 Dep.
Tr. at 17. HQ#1] who wasHQ#4  supervisor and the | COCR official at
the time, told her about his decision to countermand the ICC’s determination to release Ashker to
GP soon after he made it on June 1,2017. Id. at 43.

The final version of the DRB chrono, whichHQ #4 reviewed and approved pribr to its
issuance to Ashker, states that the DRB approved hifn for placement in RCGP. Docket No. 1594-
9 at ECF header page 25 (Ex. J); see also HQ #8 Dep. Tr. at 259-60 (testifying that HQ #4
reviewed and approved contents of final DRB chrono before signing it and had the authority to
request }r}odiﬁcations to it). HQ#4 testificd that she decided to place Ashker in RCGP based on
the “totality” of the information available to her, HQ#4 Dep. Tr. at 71, and concerns for Ashker’s
safety, see id. at 42-43, 16, 79, 101.

The record rontains evidence that undermines the credibility of this testimony. First,
HQ#4 admitted during her deposition that her determination as to Ashker’s placement was based,
at least in part, on her belief that Ashker might not be safe in GP at KVSP because CDCR staff
members could be spreading false rumors that Ashker | these false rumors could
have been in retaliation for Ashker having made “a lot of allegations against staff at KVSP.” See

id. at 96-97. HQ #4 explained that it is “a common practice when inmates make significant |
25
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allegations of staff misconduct, that they’re oftentimes moved for their own safety.” Id. This is

an admission that'changes in placements—at least some of which were presumably adverse as was

Ashker’s—weré made as a result of retaliatory actions by staff. This testimony suggests that

concerns for Ashker’s safety in GP at KVSP were at least in part the result of retaliatory conduct
by CDCR staff against Ashker. The response to that retaliation was further retaliation.

Second, the-final DRB chrono whichHQ #4 approved states that Ashker had been
remanded to ASU due to new “information recéived” indicating that he could be unsafe in GP and
warranting a further investigation. Docket No. 1594-9 at ECF header page 29 (Ex.J). uQ#4
was aware at the time that she approved this chrono that Ashker was remanded to ASU because
HQ#1 ordered it. HQ#4 Dep. Tr. at 32. HQ#4 initially testified that the “information received”
was the | NN discussed above, id. at 28-31, but il as reviewed after
Ashker had already been remanded to ASU onHQ #1 order and therefore could not have been the
reason for Ashker’s remand to ASU. When Plaintiffs pointed fhis out, HQ ¥4 admitted it. Id.
When asked what t'ﬁe “information received” was ﬁHQ 44 responded with a
non sequitur that the ICC had been staffed by an associate warden. She testified that, in her
opinion; an associate warden was “too low of a level to have reviewed a case as serious as Mr.
Ashker’s.” Id. at 39-40. .

This explaration is not supported by the record. As noted above, KVsp #1 testified that the
June 1, 2017, ICC had been chaired by a deputy warden who was his direct underling, not an
assistant warden. Additioﬁally, the ICC’s decision to place Ashker in GP had been based on the
recommendation of.‘K.VSP #] the KVSP IGI lieutenant who in'vestigated Ashker’s safety, and that
recommendation had been adopted, prior to the ICC hearing, bykvsp #1 and other KVSP
administrators after they met to discuss KVsP #ﬁ investigation and recommendation. Thus, the
ICC’s decision to }elease Ashker to GP on June 1, 2017, reflected the consensus of various KVSP
staff, includidg KVSP’s Warden and KVSP’s 1GI investigator, kvsp# it was not the individual

determination of an inexperienced assistant warden. Notably, Kvsp #1 testified that he did not

believe thatHQ #1 was more qualified than himself to make determinations as to Ashker’s safety.

KVSP #1 Dep. Tr. at 155, KvsP #1 also testified that he would not have adopted Kvsp #2
' 26
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recommendation to release Ashker to GP if he believed that there was additional information that
needed to be investigated. Id. at 98-99. The ICC’s recommendation to release Ashker to GP was
well supported.and reasonable, at least when compared withHQ #1 uninformed and off-the-cuff
determination,

Third, HQ#4 testified that she considered “the totality” of the evidence available to her in
making her DRB determination, including evidence tending to show that Ashker would not be
unsafe in GP and CSU’s recommendation prior to the hearing to place Ashker in GP at KVSP.
HQ#4 Dep. Tr. at 55, 70-71, 78-79, 112-13, 55. However, the DRB chrono that was issued to
Ashker after the DRB hearing, whichHQ #4 reviewed and appr;)ved prior to its issuance, omits
cvidence that Ashker would not be unsafe in GP (namely the information regarding prior instances
in which AB members who || NN D i
past were not fouqd— to have safety concerns), and omits the fact that CSU’s recommendation prior
to the DRB hearing was to release Ashker to GP. Docket No. 1594-9 at ECF header page 30-36
(Ex. J). HQ #8 testified that information that was reviewed by the DRB is supposed to be
documented in the final chrono issued after the DRB hearing, HQ #s Dep. Tr. at 168, and the
CSU’s recommendation prior to the DRB hearing also is supposed to be documented-in the CSU
recommendation portion of the final chrono, id. at 33-39. Accordingly, HQ#4 ~ approval of the
final chrono which omitted this information is evidence that she did not consider it.

The removal of information from the final DRB chrono regarding |
) N ¢
not found to have éafety concerns in GP is particularly suspect. This information undermines the
primary basis that Defendants have advanced for concluding that Ashker would be unsafe in GP.
The deletion of this information from the final DRB chrono raises the inference that Defendants
understood that this information would undcrmiﬁe the rationale for concluding that Ashker could
not safely house in GP, and that Defendants intentionally removed it for that reason. -

_Defendants-argue that this information was removed because it was confidential and the

final chrono would be issued to Ashker and could be shared with other prisoners. However, as

discussed above, the information in question was
- 27 .
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[ and,. therefore, it was not intended that the information would be removed from

the final chrono |G
Also deleted from the final DRB chrono was that there was no evidence that Ashker [jjij

. This omission also raises questions about
.whether the DRB decision was motivated by a belief that Ashker was unsafe. HQ #s testified that
other prisoners might ask to see the ﬁn.al DRB chrono after it was issued to Ashker. HQ#s8 Dep.
Tr. at 95. Statements in the chrono that Ashker |- thcrefore, could protect Ashker,
not endangér him. SeeHQ#4 Dep. Tr. at 72; HQ #8 Dep. Tr. at 94-95. YetHQ#4 approved a
final DRB chrono that did not contain these statements, suggesting again that Ashker’s safety was

not Defendants’ major concern.

Defendants also claim that the statements that |
]
. The Court s
not persuaded. It is undisputed that Ashker ||
T
N S¢¢ OCS #1  Rep. at 4, Docket
No. 1627-3 at ECF header pege || I
—
e
[ pere@ 0 [ ]
. 0+ Dep. Tr. at42-43,
_'d at60. Thus,HQ#+

I <! ding that information
28

M
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1 || in the chrono would-have “assist[ed] Ashker” in avoiding threats to his safety. HQ #8 Dep Tr. at
136, 94-95. |
HQ#4  approval of a final DRB chrono that omitted the CSU’s recommendation that
Ashker be released to GP suggests that Defend'ants deviated from normal practices to try to hide
facts that would undermine the conclusion that Ashker would be unsafe in GP. Defendants’
responée is that HQ #8  draft chrono of August"3, 2017, actually did not constitute the CSU’s final
recommendation toHQ #4  before the DRB hearing, which was instead to place Ashker in RCGP.
But that is inconsistént withHQ #4 testimoﬁy that she understood CSU’s recommendation prior

to the DRB hearing was to release Ashker to GP. HQ#4 Dep. Tr. 73, 78-79. The portions of

N o ~ N (91 L= w [\S]

10 HQ #3 dcposition' testimony that Defendants cite to support their argument that HQ #8°  August 3,
11 || 2017, draft chrono was modified before it was presented toHQ #4  prior to the hearing do not

12 || actually establish that. HQ#8 could not remember when changes to the chrono she drafted were
13 || made or what the changes were, See HQ #8 Dep. Tr. at 167-68, 200-01. .

14 A Finally, HQ #4 testified to a number of other factors that led her to conclude that Ashker
15 || would be unsafe in GP. These either are not typically relied on by DRB chairs in determining

16. whether a prisoner is unsafe, or otherwise are not credible in light of other facts in the record.

17 | HQ#4 testified that she relied in part on her observation that Ashker “talked incessantly'(”
18 || during the DRB heairing about this litigation and what his attorneys had advised him. /d. at 102-
19 || 03, 107-08. She worried that Ashker cared more about what the attorneys thought than his own
20 safety, which, in ber mind, undermined the crédibility of his statements that he was not concerned
21 || about h:i‘s safety in GP. Id. However, HQ#4 encouraged Ashlker to discuss his future litigation
22 || plans,KVSP #1 Dep..‘ Tr. at 232-33, and it was not typical for a DRB chair to do so, id. at 238.

23 || KvsP#1 testified thzthe was not aware of other instances in which the DRB chair had inquired

24 || abouta prison;ar’s litigation plans during a DRB. Id. at 238. When asked how Ashker’s plans for
25 || future litigation were relevant to the DRB heafing; KVsP #1 testified that “litigation mitigation is
26 || the job of all admi;iistrators- and al} staff that crea{e — within the department.” id. This suggests
27 || that Ashker’s litigation activities, and a desire to mitigate such activities, played a role ingQ#4 ~

28 || DRB decision even though the final DRB chrono states thatHQ #4  reviewed the evidence “with
29
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strict concern” for Ashker’s “wellbeing and his safety, and with no concern for any pending
fitigations.” Docket No. 1594-9 at ECF header page 36 (Ex. J). It also suggests that her safety-
related explanations for discussing Ashker’s litigation during the DRB hearing,l HQ#4 Dep. Tr. at
102, 107-08, were pretextual.'

Next, HQ #4 testified that it concerned her that, during the hearing, Ashker did not appear
to know which yards were not good according to AB rules, and did not want to be placed in yards
that had validated AB members. HQ#4 Dep. Tr. at 83, 101, 104. It concerned her that Ashker
was willing to program at | even though that yard was considered by the AB as
no good and Ashker has enemies there. Id. at 104-06. However,HQ #8 contemporaneous notes

of the DRB hearing, Docket No. 1596 at ECF header page 121 (Ex. AG), do not include these

2

comments. The notes report that Ashker “asked about transferring to
I 21 stated that “he is going where the DRB tells him he can
go;” the notes report that it v'vas “[t]he Chairperson” who “asked if he would want to ol
Docket No. 1596 at ECF header page 124. HQ 48 notes contradictHQ#4  testimony. Further,
the final DRB chrono does not lis{jjjjijas one of the prisons discussed during the hearing, which
also undermines the credibility of HQ#4  testimony on this point. See Docket No. 1594-9 at
ECF header pages 36-37 (Ex. J).

Also in expianation of the reasons for her DRB decision, HQ #4 testified that it “gave
[her] great pause” that Ashker said multiple times during his discussions with CDCR staff in early
May 2017 I -t he believed that other gang members thought he was no

good. HQ#4 Dep. Tr. at 83. However,HQ #4 also testified that she believed that Ashker was

Y

—concemed about his fiancée at the time. HQ#4 Dep. Tr. at 108-11. HQ #4
decision to weigh these statements more heavily than Ashker’s later statements that he did not
believe he would be unsafe-, such as those he made in his rebuttal prior to the DRB hearing or
d‘uring the DRB hearing, see Docket No. 1594-9 at ECF header page 36 (Ex. J), is suspect.

The Court finds that the record strongly suggests thatHQ #4  actions in connection with

the DRB she chaired were intended to support and further HQ #1 claimed rationale that Ashker
30
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would be unsafe inGP as a result of ||| | | N *hich was a pretext for Defendants’

—

retaliation against Ashker for his protected activities. HQ#4  motivation to further HQ #1
pretextual rationale can be inferred from the fact that her deposition testirhony lacks credibility
and is inconsistent with other facts in the record. Also supporting pretext is her approval of a final
DRB chrono that included misleading information about | to ¢xplain why a
second investigation into Ashker’s safety was initiated, concealing HQ #1 involvement in
Ashker’s remand to ASU. In addition, this chrono omitted, in a deviation from typical procedures,

(1) information indicating that Ashker would not be unsafe in GP because similarly situated

O e NN N i R WwWN

prisoners had not been harmed, (2) information corroborating that Ashker || | | I that

—
o

would have helped him avoid threats to his safety, and (3) the fact that the CSU had recommended

prior to the hearing that Ashker be released to GP. Pretext can also be inferred from the fact that

._.._.
N -

HQ#4 reported to HQ #1 who was the || NN oificial at CDCR. She was

—
(V8]

involved in communications with him and others at headquarters regarding |

—
S

I 20d subsequent events, as well as regarding the apparent need to devise a “plan.” The

—
w

evidence suggests that Defendants deviated from typical practices to create a record that would

support the conclusion that Ashker would be unsafe in GP, and conceal contrary facts. By relying

B
~N N

on this record to support the pretextual rationale that Ashker would be unsafe in any GP, HQ #4

p—
o0

perpetuated the retaliatory course of conduct that HQ #1 began on June 1, 2017.

—
=]

F. Some confidential memoranda and reports indicating that Ashker'is a target

of the AB m contain material discrepancies
between what confidential sources said and what was stated in the

memoranda, suggesting that confidential memoranda and reports are, in
general, unreliable indicators of whether Ashker is being targeted by the AB

3R S ST S T \S |
W N - O

After Ashker’s DRB on August 4, 2017, Defendants generated multiple confidential

()
N

memoranda and confidential debrief reports indfcating that Ashker is being targeted by the AB JJjj

_‘.S Defendants’ prfson gang expertOCcS #1  relied on such documents

NN
[= V]

E

N
<3

5 Confidential memoranda and confidential debrief reports are supposed to memorialize
information that was provided to CDCR staff by a confidential informant. When the informant is
providing the information as part of his debrief, the document generated is referred to as a

31
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‘to opine that Ashker would be targeted for murder or assault if he were housed in GP, and
Defendants, in turn, have relied on 0CSs #1 opinions to argue in their opposition to the present

motion that Ashker cannot safely house in any GP _ However,

the reliability of these confidential documents as to whether Ashker is, m fact, being targeted by
the AB | s ucstionable.

The Court found in its order of February 2, 2022, in which it granted Plaintiffs’ second
motion to extend the settlement agreement, that material discrepancies existed between what a
confidential informant stated abm’lt Ashker and what was written in a confidential memorandum

dated June 5, 2019, which Defendants relied upon to recommend that Ashker be housed in RCGP.

Defendants documented in the June 5, 2019, memorandum that_
I b the Court found

that the transcript of the interview with the confidential source did not contain these statements.
Docket No. 1579 at 54-55. Despite these inaccuracies, ocs #1  relies upon that memorandum to
conclude that Ashker is being targeted by the AB _ and would be assaulted
or murdered in GP.’

In support of their present motion to enforce Paragraph 54, Plaintiffs point to additional
confidential memoranda and debrief reports that state that Ashker is being targeted by the ADJ
] that. contain material discrepancies similar to those that the Court addressed
in its February 2, 2622, order. "Plaintiffs were able to uncover these discrepancies || N
|
] that Defendants happened to preserve before they implemented a

litigﬁtion hold on recordings of interviews with confidential sources in October 2019. Plaintiffs
reﬁreéent, and Defendants do not dispute, that prior to October 2019, Defendants did not require
CDCR staff to retain recordings of their interviews of confidential informants even though those
discussions formed the basis of confidential memoranda and confidential debrief reports.

Accordingly, some-of those recordings were destroyed, although some were preserved.

confidential debrief report.
' 32
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1 Below are scme examples of the material discrepancies in confidential memoranda and
2 || confidential debrief reports generaied prior to the October 2019 litigation hold that Plaintiffs were
3 || able to uncover. Defendants have not disputed or attempted to explain any of these material
4 || discrepancies. : -
3 r - |
- |
7 | e
R RRRRRRRRRRRRRRSOAEEAAEE.
10 || |
.y |
12 ||
13 || Despite the inaccuraciesocs #1  relies on this confidential report to opine in opposition to the
14 || instant motion that Ashker is being tgrgetcd b}% the AB NN |
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I, s ormission is material
because a DRB that met on August 13, 2019, relied on thejj I mcmorandum in

finding that Ashker had safety concerns in GP. See Docket No. 1599-2 at ECF header page 102
(Ex. CG).S

Plaintiffs represent, and Defendants do not dispute, that, since the October 2019 litigation
hold, there have been rno confidential memoranda or debrief reports of a confidential informant
stating that Ashker is béing targeted by the AB ﬁ See Docket
No. 1598-0 at ECF header pages 22-25 (listing all confidential information relied upon for
Ashker’s housing placements up to the May 27, 2021 DRB hearing). This supports an inference
that the material discrepancies in reports generated prior to the October 2019 litigation hold were
not accidents, and instead were intentional misrepresentations that Ashker was a target of the AB
I |t further raises an inference that pre-October 2019 reports
that Ashker was targeted by the AB, which Plaintiffs were not able to check for accuracy because
the source recordings were destroyed, likely contain similar material discrepancies.” Yet,
Defendants’ gang expertocs#1  relied on'reports generated prior to the October 2019 litigation
hold as a basis for his opinions, and Defendants have likewise relied on such reports to support
their conclusion that Ashker would be unsafe in any GP, as well as their recommendations that
Ashker must be placed in RCGP. The foregoing supports the Court’s finding that Defendants’

prisoner-safety rationale for concluding that Ashker cannot éafely live in any GP, to the extent it is

cadcr page

7 The Court.draws these inferences based on its analysis of the evidence, but also because
of Defendants’ failure to preserve the recordings despite having had notice that they were relevant
to this litigation as of July 14, 2017, when Plaintiffs filed their motion to enjoin retaliation against
Ashker. This is discussed in more detail in the Conclusions of Law.,
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predicated on purported confidential-informant statements as memorialized in unreliable

confidential memoranda and reports that pre-date the litigation hold, is pretextual.

G. A safety investigation in April 2021 concluded that Ashker had resolved any
issues he previously had with the AB but a May 2021 DRB declined to release
Ashker to any GP based on documents not disclosed in its chrono and the
DRE chair’s own investigation, deviating from typical DRB practices

On April 21, 2021 KVSP #7 wrote a confidential report assessing

Ashker’s safety, in which he concluded that
— P Pr— N B— - - - - - - N - N — -

N Doc:ct No. 1598 at
ECF header page 7 {(Ex. AV). KvsP#7 recommended that Ashker be referred to the ICC for a

housing reyiew for possible release to GP. Id. at ECF header page 13. This recommendation was
B 2s well as three confidential memoranda that were placed in Ashker’s file since the last
“safety concern investigation was completed” on January 7, 2021. One of these was dated March
9,2021, and authored by ocs#1  Defendants’ prison gang expert. It contained information
provided by a confidential informant in I that Ashker was in good standing with the
AB. Id. at ECF header pages 10-12. ocs#1  found t_his information to be reliable. Id. at ECF
header page 1 1 The other two memoranda referred to inKvsp#7 report were dated February 8,
2021, and April 5, 2021, butkvsp #7 did not find the information in these memoranda to be
reliable. ' .

On April 29, 2021, the ICC, chaired by kvsp #1 decided to refer Ashker to the DRB for
review. Docket No. 1598 at ECF header page 2-4 (Ex. AU). The ICC chrono points out that,
since the last ICC Iiéaring on January 21, 2021, KVSP #7 report and the three memoranda it
discussed had been added to Ashker’s file. Id. at header pages 2-3. The ICC chrono states:
“There was no inf'c;i'mation received during fhis investigation stating ASHKER ha-s continued

Safety and/or Enerﬁy Concerns with Member/Associates of the Aryan Brotherhood.” Id. at header

page 3.

35




United States District Court

Northern District of California

Case 4:09-cv-05796-CW Document 1877-1 Filed 06/08/23 Page 37 of 66

(8]

O 90 9 s W

10

11

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

26

27
28

5e 4:09-cv-05796-CW Document 1750 *SEALED* Filed 01/05/23 Page 36 of 65

Nonetheless, on May 27,2021, HQ#5  who at that point was |Jjjilijithe Division of
Adult Institutions, éfhaired a DRB which recommended that Ashker be placed in RCGP “based on
unresolved safety concerns.” Docket No. 1598 at ECF header pages 16, 29-31 (Ex. AW). The
DRB chrono noted that the CSU recommended certain Level [V and Level III GP facilitics where
Ashker could be placed in the event that the DRB determined that he could be safely released to a
GP. Id at ECF header page 29. The Level III GP facilities would require a behavioral override.
Id. HQ#5 did not consider any of those GP optiors, or the possibility of a behavioral override,
instead concluding that “the RCGP remains api:ropriate.” Id. at ECF header pages 30-31.

As noted above, HQ #5  is one of the people who was included in communications among

HQ#1 and other staff at CDCR headquiarters regarding [ R R
I At thc time of those communications, she reported to HQ #1 who was
the | -t CDCR. The communications to which she was privy included the
email in which HQ #1|stated that CDCR headquarters needed to develop a “plan” in response to

I - -0 4 Dep. Tr. at 10-18.

.HQ #5 was familiar with Ashker’s allegations of retaliation in connection with his placement in

ASUIIEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE Shc was the CDCR representative who told the magistrate

judge inaccurately in June 2017 that a second investigation into Ashker’s safety was necessary
because of the ﬁ She failed to reveal thataQ #1 had
summarily ordered Ashker’s remand to ASU. See Docket No. 764 at 8. ‘

The chrono for the May 27, 2021, DRB that HQ #5 approved itemized all sixteen pieces of
evidence that HQ #5 said she consideréd in making her determination. Docket. No. 1598 at ECF |

header page 16, 29-31 (Ex. AW). Of the sixteen items, the chrono identified only four as

- supporting a finding that Ashker continues to be unsafe in a GP (Items 3, 8, 10, and 12). The

chrono stated these items originated from purported confidential informant statements that pre-
date the October 2619 litigation hold.

The chror;o,g_lso stated that no more recent information indicated that Ashker’s issues with
the AB had been resolved. Two items that suggested that Ashker’s issues with the AB had been

resolved were consédcred by HQ#5 but rejected as unreliable (Items 14 and 16).
' 36
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Item 14 is the confidential memorandurn dated March 9, 2021, that kvsp #7addressed in
his s;afcty investigation report, as described above. Docket. No. 1598 at ECF header page 26.

HQ #5 found the confidential informant statements in this memorandum. to be unreliable because
his statements about Ashker were based on information from 2013. She did not explain how she
determined this. /d. at ECF header i)age 30. Butaccording toHQ #8] the March 9, 2021,

- memorandum does-not state that the information the confidential informant provided was from
2013. SeeHQ #8 Dep. Tr. at 242-44 (testifying that she reviewed the March 9 memorandum and
does not remember seeing that the information in it was from 2013 and if she had, she would have
documented it in the DRB chrono). HQ#8 testified that she did not know howHQ#s had
determined that the information provided by the informant was from 2013. Id. at 244,

HQ#5 seems to have coqducted her own investigation as to the accuracy and reliability of
the confidential informant’s statcmcnts;, in an apparent departure from typical procedures. The
“typical process” is for lower-level staff to investigate the reliability or accuracy of the evidence |
that will be con.side'red during a DRB. HQ#4 Dep. Tr. at 50-51 (when serving as DRB chair, she
did not investigate evidence relevant to a DRB hearing; the “typical process” is for a staff member -
to do the investigation and to include the results in the preparation documents that are provided to
the DRB chair); see also HQ #8 Dep. Tr. at 98 (she, as correctional counselor, reviews documents
relevant to a DRB hearing to look for reliability and corroboration and includes that information in
the draft chrono that is presented to the DRB chair). HQ #8 reviewed the documents relevant to
this DRB and drafted the DRB chrono. She concluded that the confidential informant’s statements
were current (not from 2013). HQ #8 Dep. Tr. at 242-44,

During the #earing on November 3, 2022, the Court asked Defendants how HQ#5 came

to the conclusion t;éat the confidential informant’s information about Ashker was from 2013.

They responded that HQ #5 relied on Plaintiffs’ “Exhibit AY,” which is a transcript of the
recorded interview with the confidential informant that Defendants produced to Plaintiffs with
redactions. Defend:ants did not explain how HQ #5 came to review that transcript in that there is

no indication in the DRB chrono that it was a document upon which she relied.
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The partially redacted transcript of the interview of the confidential informant, Docket No.

1598-2 at ECF header page 2 (Ex. AY), provides || NG
N . ¢t 52-59. OCs #1 Who

authored the March 9, 2021, memorandum and interviewed the informant, understood that

[14

Ashker’s good standing was the informant’s “understanding at the time of the interview” in 2021
' and “[t]hat’s what [he] documented” in the March 9, 2021, memorandum. ocs#1  Dep. Tr. at
315, 333. "

The second:-item in the DRB chrono that supported a finding that Ashker was not in danger
from the AB, but that HQ #5 did not credit, is Item 16. ItisKVSP#7 security concerns
investigation report of April 21, 2021, which, as noted above, concludes that || N
_ Docket No. 1598 at ECF header page
7 (Ex. AV). HQ#5 did not credit the report because it relied on the informaticn, described in the
March 9, 2021, conﬁdential memorandum, that HQ #5 took to refer to 2013.

The Court finds that the reason that HQ #5 gave for not crediting the confidential
informant’s statements that Ashker is in good standing with the AB, as well asKVSP #7 security
investigation report, is not credible and is prctéxtual, because it is not consistent with other
evidence and because HQ#5 appears to have zicparted from typical practices in justifying not
crediting these documents. Further, HQ #5 ';vas included in communications withHQ#1 and others
at headquarters at{outﬁand the need to come up with a “plan” wherjjjjj
B 2 vell. HQ #5 appears to have assisted in concealing HQ #1 involvement in Ashker’s
remand to ASU on June 1, 2017. All this persuades the Court to find that HQ #5  actions in
connection with Asaker’s DRB were inténded to support and _pcr];etuate HQ#1 claimed rationale
thét Ashker would iJe unsafe in GP | NG ©hich was pretext for

Defendants’ retaliation agaiﬁst Ashker for his protected activities, which began whenHQ#1

remanded Ashker t'_(.') ASU on June 1, 2017.
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H. Infliential prisoners declare that they do not believe that ,
that they believe that Ashker would be safe in GP, and

I ) o ot targeted for doing so

Some prisohers filed declarations in support of Ashker’s retaliation motion that were
executed since Ashker’s.DRB in May 2021. These prisoners, including influential prisoners who
are identified as white, declare that they do not believe rumors that I hove not
heard that Ashker is being targeted by the AB, and believe that Ashker would be safe in GP. See,
e.g., Prisoner Decl. 41 5-10, Docket No. 1600-4 (Ex. CB) (executed in February 2022); Prisoner
Decl. § 1-5, Docket No. 1600-4 at ECF header page 11 (Ex. BZ) (executed in November 2021);
see also generally Frisoner Decl., Docket No. 1600-4 at ECF header page 16 (Ex. CA)
(declaration executed in Fébruary 2022); Prisoner Decl., Docket No, 1600-5 at ECF header page 2
(Ex. CD) (executed in March 2022); Prisoner Decl., Docket No. 1600-5. at ECF header page 6
(Ex. CE) (executed in October 2020).

Influential prisoncrs, G = cclarations

“that confirmHQ #8 findings and Ashker’s assertions that there have been prior instances in which
Q g  been p

AB members committed violations of AB rules ||| and those members were

not targeted for those violations and were able to program safely in GP. These prisoners declare .

that—' N B

I
I ¢ Prisoner Decl. 1§ 8-10, Docket No.

1600-4 (Ex. CB); see also Prisoner Decl. 15, Docket No. 1600-4 (Ex. BY). Defendants do not
dispute these prisoners’ assertions. '
These pris,oi:er declarations lend further support to the Court’s finding that Defendants’

prisoner-safety rationale for concluding that Ashker cannot safely [ive in any GP because of

I i prtextual.

I The Court considers but gives minimal weight to the opinions of Defendants’
prison gang expert ‘

OCS #1 gave his opinion, as a non-
retained expert witness for Defendants, on Ashker’s safety. Docket No, 1507-2 at ECF header

page 25 (Ex. AQ);ocs #1  Decl. [ 1-3, Docket No. 1627-3 at ECF header page 6. His
’ 39
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experience includesy N investisations of prison gang activity. ocs#1  Decl. 2.
As set forth in his report, dated December 6, 2019, Docket No. 1627-3 at ECF header page 8,

OCS #1

opinion is that inmate Todd Ashker, if returned to general

population, would have grave safety concerns, including likely
being targeted for murder due t

m— oes not
altermy opinion, | am unaware of any circumstances where, if

known to the inmate population, an Aryan Brotherhood affiliate can

“ return to general population and not be
targeted for murder. ,

ocs#1  Decl. (4.

In his report, OCS #1  states that he is familiar with AB rules and with “how the AB
operates,” based on his extensive experience and training, interviews of active and debriefing
affiliates of the AB, as well as his review of “Confidential Debriefs” conducted by other

investigators. Docket No. 1627-3 at ECF header page 8. ocs#1  describes various AB rule

violations in his report [
—l ) } i i ) - -.
|
[}
OCS #1 opinions about Ashker’s purported safety concerns with the AB are based on
his review of documents that specifically refer to Ashker. Some of the documentsocs #1  relied

on were provided to. him by the CDCR’s Office of Legal Affairs and included chronos relating to

Ashker and transeripts of S
B /2t 12. ocs#1  alsorelied on documents located in Ashker’s file, which

included confidential memoranda and confidential debriefing reports that mentioned Ashker and

that were generated prior to the October 2019 litigation hold. Id.

ocs 1

T e |
40 ’
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I <. 2t 20. He also considered the
declarations filed before a February 12, 2018, DRB hearing of Ashker’s case, by four AB affiliates

stating that Ashker would not be unsafe in GP, but these declarations did not alter ocs #1
' opinioﬁ. Id. at21.

‘Plaintiffs moved to exclude ocs #1 s opinion as 11nreli5ble. As noted, the magistrate
judge denied Plaintiffs’ motion. The Court will consider Plaintiffs’ motion to exclude ocs #1
opinions de novo. The Court finds thatocs #1 opinions are admissible because they are
sufficiently reliable, as they are based onocCs #1 extensive training and experience in
investigating the AB and on his review of documents relevant-to Ashker’s safety concerns, and
because they would assist the Court in deciding the issues now before it.

However, the Court gives OCS #1 opinions as to Ashker’s safety minimal weight for
the following reasons.

First,0Cs #1 opinion that Ashker would be unsafe in GP appears to have been pre-

determined. Plaintiffs have shown, and Defendants have not disputcd, that before he was asked to

serve as an expert in this actionocs #1 | NN
s ¢
I [ his strongly suggests that his
concluéion that Askicer would be unsafe because he is targeted by the AB RN
pre-dated his analysis of the relevant documents and information that he claims to have reviewed
to prepare his report and generate his opinions. ‘

.Second, OCs#1  opines that he is “unaware of any circumstances where an AB affiliate
N | s
undisputed that ther.e are multiple prior instances in which AB members | RN

B V< found by CDCR not to be unsafe, and were able to live safely in GP.
41
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As discussed above, Ashker and other prisoners identified several examples of this in the
declarations they filed in support of Plaintiffs’ motion, and at least some of those examples were
investigated and discussed by HQ #8 in her draft chrono for the August 4, 2017, DRB. She found
them valid and supp.orting that Ashker could reside safely in GP. ocs #1 ' failure to address
that relevant evider;cc in his analysis undermines his credibility. He testified at his deposition that
“what [he] was asked to do was to find documéntation that woul-d identify po.ssible safety l
concerns.” OCS #1 ' Dep. Tr. at 68.

Third, ocs #1 opinions rely on confidential memoranda and debrief reports that are
not consistent with svhat the confidential source .said, Some of those confidential memoranda and
debricf reports are discussed in'more detail above. 'fhey include the confidential memorandum of
June 5, 2019, that this Court found in its order of February 2, 2022, contained material
discrepancies but was nevertheless used to recommend that Ashker be housed in RCGP. See
ocs#1  Rep.at 12, Docket No. 1627-3 at ECF header page 19. As discussed above, the Court
has found that confidential memoranda and reports regardihg Ashker tlgat pre-date the start of the
litigation hold on October 2019 are likely to contain material inaccuracies similar to those that
Plaintiffs were able to uncover in reports based on source information that had not been destroyed.
These unsourced reports are not a reliable indicator of whether Ashker is, in fact, being targeted by
the AB. ocs#1 reliance on these documents diminishes the persuasiveness of his opinions, |
particularly because he admitted that he did not try to determine whether any safety concerns
stated in the d;)cuménts he reviewed were accurate but simply assumed that they were. See, e.g.,
ocs#1  Dep. Tr. .2t 69. |
" CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
L Standard of review for the magistrate judge’s rulings

The Court first turns to the parties’ dispute as to the standard of review that applies to the
magistrate judge’s rulings. Defendants contend that Plaintiffs’ motion under Paragraph 53 to
enforce Paragraph 54 with respect to Ashker’s housing placements is subject to clear error review

on the basis that Plaintiffs failed to identify the portions of the magistrate judge’s order to which
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they object as required by Civil Local Rule 72-3(a)? and because their motion for de novo review
is “bereft of legal analysis[.]” Docket No. 1705-2 at 4.

The SA pl'O“JidCS that an order by the magistrate judge resolving a motion to enforce the
SA under Paragraph 53 is subject tb review under 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(B). Section 636(b)(1)(B)
governs findings and recommendations by a magistrate judge, and those, in turn, are subject to de
novo review under 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(C). Defendants do not dispute this. Docket No. 1705-2
at2 (“The Settlcmér;t Agreement contemplates ‘review under 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(B)’ of
motions alleging substantial non-compliance with the Settlement Agreement’s terms, including
motions alleging retaliation against class members”).

The Court is not persuaded by Defendants’ contention that, notwithstanding the SA’s
terms, this Court must review the magistrate judge’s rulings with respect to Plaintiffs’ motion to
enforce Paragraph 54 for clear error on the basis that Plaintiffs failed to object to them with the
requisite degree of épecificity. Plaintiffs sufficiently identified the portions of the magistrate
judge’s rulings to which they object by arguing in their motion for de novo review that the
magistrate judge’s rulings fail to take into account the evidence and arguments they made. Docket
No. 1698-2 at 1-3. Accordingly, the Court construes the magistrate judge’s rulings with respect to
Plaintiffs’ motion to enforce Paragraph 54 as propoéed findings and recommendations under 28
U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(B) and reviews them de novo review under 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(C). Where
the standard of review is de novo, the Court considers the arguments and evidence presented to the
magistrate judge as if no decision had been rendered by the magistrate judge. Dawson v.
Marshall, 561 F.3d 930, 933 (9th Cir. 2069) (“De novo review means that the reviewing court
do[es] not defer to the lower court’s ruling but freely consider[s] the matter anew, as if no decision

had been rendered elow.”) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

8 Civil Local Rule 72-3(a) provides, “Any objection filed pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 72(b)
and 28 U.S.C. § 635(b)(1)(B) must be made as a ‘Motion for De Novo Determination of
Dispositive Matter-Referred to Magistrate Judge.” The motion must be made pursuant to Civil
L.R. 7-2 and must specifically identify the portions of the Magistrate Judge’s findings,
recommendation, or report to which objection is made and the reasons and authority supporting
the motion.”
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1 Defendants next argue that the magistrate judge’s rulings as to Plaintiffs’ motion to
2 || exclude OCs #1 expert opinions and Plaintiffs’ request for an adverse inference based on
3 || Defendants’ destruction of certain evidence are subject to review for clear error, not de novo
4 || review, because they are non-dispositive matters. Docket No. 1705-2 at 2.
5 The Court is not persuaded. Defendants have not pointed to any portion of the SA that
6 || supports their argument that rulings by the magistrate judge with respect to non-dispositive
N
7 || matters are subject to review for clear error. As this Court discussed in a prior order, Docket No.
8 || 1740,
The SA does not distinguish between dispositive and non-
9 dispositive matters, and it does not mention 28 U.S.C.
§ 635(b)(1)(A), the statute that governs referrals to a magistrate
10 judge under a clear error standard of review. The SA mentions only
28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(B) when addressing the standard of review
11 " that applies to the magistrate judge’s rulings pursuant to the SA
' - which, as noted above, governs referrals for reports and
12 recommendations subject to de novo review.

13 || See id. at 8. Further, Plaintiffs’ request for an adverse inference and motion to exclude

14 || ocs#1 opinions are intertwined with the merits of their motion to enforce Paragraph 54,

15 || under Paragraph 53, which, as discussed abové, is subject to de novo review. Accordingly, the
16 || Court construes the magistrate judge’s rulings as to the matters in question as proposed findings
17 || and recommendations under 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(B) subject to de novo review under 28 U.S.C.
18 || §636(B)INC). ‘

19 | Defendants also argue, in passing and in a footnote, that, to the extent this Court interprets
20 || the magistrate judge’s rulings as proposed findings and recommendations, Plaintiffs “arc entitled
21 || ono réply brief.” Docket No. 1705-2 at 5 n.4. This argument fails. As discussed above, the

22 || magistrate judge’s rulings are proposed findings and recommendations under 28 U.Ss.C.

23 § 636(b)(1)(B). Civil Local Rule 72-3 provides that objections to such reports and ‘
24 || recommendations raust be made pursuant to Civil Locél Rule 7-2, which allows a reply. See Civil
25 || LR.7-3. ' ’

26 || 1L | Plaintiffs’ motion to exclude the opinions of Defendants’ prison gang expert

27 As rioted, Piaintiffs move to exclude OCs #1 opinions and report. Docket No. 1589-2.

28 || They contend thatOCS #1 opinions are unreliable, as (1)ocs #1  cherry-picked evidence
' 44
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and intentionally ignored information that did not support his desired conclusion that Ashker
would be unsafe in GP; (2) his opinions are based on confidential memoranda that contain.
material discrepancies from their sources; and (3) he failed to consider the opinions of other
CDCR subject matter experts who investigated Ashker’s safety and came to the conclusion that
Ashker-could be safely housed in GP. Id. at 3.

Defendants oppose the motion. Docket No. 1626-1. Defendants argue that the Court
“should admit expest testimony important for understanding the specialized issues in this case,
including the rules of the Aryan Brotherhood prison gang and the implications of violating those
rules: the actual reason Ashker was kept in restricted housing.” Jd. at 1. Defendants further
contend that 0Cs #1 opinions are admissible because they are “based on his knowledge and
experience in the correctional system and his years of gang investigation work,” as well as his
“review of documents and information from other investigators and about Ashker specifically.”:
Id at5.

Under Federal Rule of Evidence 702, an expert is qualified as a witness if “(a) the expert’s
scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will help the trier of fact to understand the
evidence or to determine a fact in issue; (b) the testimony is based on sufficient facts or data; (c)
the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods; and (d) the expert has reliably
applied the principles and methods to the facts of the case.” Fed. R. Evid. 702. Before admitting
expert tes‘timony, a district court must “assure that the expert testimony ‘both rests on a reliable
foundation and is relevant to the task at hand.”” Primiano v. quk, 598 F.3d 558, 564 (9th Cir.
2010) (citation omiited). “[T)he trial court has discretion to decide how to test an expert’s
reliability as well as whether the testimony is reliable, based on the particular circumstances of the
particular case.” Id. (cita.tion and internal quotation marks omitted).

OCS #1 testimony is based on his specialized knowledge and training in investigating
prison gangs, including the Aj3, as well as his review of documents relevant to Ashker’s safety.
Where, as here, the_expert testimony in question is based primarily on the expert’s specialized
knowledge (as opposed to the expert’s scientific or technical knowledge), the “Daubert factors

(peer review, publication, potential error rate, etc.) simply are not applicable” and the admissibility -
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of that type of expert testimony instead “depends heavily on the knowledge and experienc;e of the
expert, rather than the methodology or theory behind it.” United States v. Harkey, 203 F.3d 1160, .
1169 (9th Cir. 2000) (citation omitted). Further, “in considering the admissibility of testimony
based on some ‘other specialized knowledge,” Rule 702 generally is construed liberally.” Id. at
1168 (citation and internal quotation mérks omitted).

The Court finds, in its discretion, that OCs #1 specialized knowledge and experience in
investigating prison gangs and the AB, as well as his review of documents relevant to the question
of whether Ashker would be safe in GP, are sufficient to serve as a reliable foundation for his
opinions. See Priniiano, 598 F.3d at 564 (“[T]he trial court has discretion to decide how to test an
expert’s reliability 28 well as whether the testimony is reiiable, based on the particular'
circumstances of the particular case.”) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). The Court
also finds thatocCs #1 opinions are relevant to, and will assist the Court in resolving, the
issues now before it. Because OCS #1 opinions have a reliable foundation and are relevant,
they are not subj’ectjto exclusion under Rule 702. Primiano, 598 F.3d at 564; Hankey, 203 F.3d at
1169.

For the reasons discussed in the Findings of Fact, however, the Court is not persuaded by

OCS #1 opinions regarding Ashker’s safety.

IOI.  Plaintiffs’ motion to enforce Paragraph 54 in connection with retaliation in Ashker’s
housing placements

As noted, Plaintiffs contend that three separate housing placements by Defendants
constitute retaliation against Ashker in violation of Paragraph 54: (1) HQ #1 June 1, 2017,
countermand of the ICC decision to release Ashker to GP, which led to Ashker’s retention in
ASU; (2)HQ#4  August 4, 2017, DRB determination that Ashker would be unsafe in GP and
should be housed in RCGP; and (3)HQ#5  May 27, 2021, DRB determination to the same
effect. . . ' .

“[P]rison walls ao not form a barrier separating prison inmates from the protections of the
Constitution,” Entier v. Gregoire, 872 F.3d 1031, 1039 (9th Cir. 2017) (citation and internal

qilotation marks omitted). “The most fundamental of the constitutional protections that prisoners
46
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retain are the First Amendment rights to file prison grievances and to pursue civil rights litigation
in the courts, for ‘[v;/]ithou't those bedrock constitutional guarantees, inmates would be left with no
viable mechanism to remedy prison injustices.”” Id. (citation omitted). Accordingly, while courts
should “accord adequate deference to the judgment of the prison authorities,” courts should not
“condene” retaliation against a prisoner for exercising his First Amendment rights or threatening -
to do so. Id.

The parties agree that the standard for establishing retaliation in violation of Paragraph 54
is the one set forth in Rhodes v. Robinson, 408 F.3d 559, 567-68 (9th Cir. 2005). That standard
requires showing, by a preponderance of the evidence: “(1) An assertion that a state actor took
some adverse action against an inmate (2) because of (3) that prisoner’s protected conduct, and
that such action (4) chilled the inmate’s exercise of his First Amendment rights,” or that he
suffered some other harm, and that “(5) the action did not reasonably advance a legitimate
correctional goal.” Id.

. The Ninth Circuit has held that the Rhodes standard “strike[s] th[e] balance™ between, on
the one hand, ensuring that prisoﬁ officials do not retaliate against a prisoner for exercising his
First Amendment rights and, on the other hand, deferring to “reasonable decisions of prison
officials.” Shepardv. Quillen, 840 F.3d 686, 688 (9th Cir. 2016) (“We have long recognized that
a corrections officer may not retaliate against a prisoner for exercising his First Amendment right
to report staff misconduct. . . . At the same time, we must defer to reasonable decisions of prison
officials. . . . When a prisoner claims retaliation, we strike this balance by requiring him to show
that (1) ‘a state 'acto-r- took some adverse action . . . (2) because of (3) [the] prisoner’s protected
conduct, . . . that such action (4) chilled [his].exercise of his First Amendment rights, and (5) the
action did not reasonably advance a legitimate correctional goal.’”) (quoting Rhodes, 408 F.3d at
559). Accordingly, the Rhodes standard takes into account and incorporates the deference that
must be afforded to prison officials. ‘

Defendants do not dispute that the challenged housing determinations were actions by state

actors, or that Ashker’s activities and role in this litigation are protected conduct. Accordingly, the
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Court evaluates belsw whether Plaintiffs have met their burden to establlsh the other elements for
a retaliation claim uader Rhodes.
For the feasons below, the Court finds and concludes that Plaintiffs have shown by a
- preponderance of the evidence that Defendants substantially failed to comply with Paragraph 54 in
connection with the three housing piacements at issué. The Court finds that the evidence to which
Plaintiffs point is sufficient to establish that the proffered basis. for these housing placements,
namely that the AB is targeting Ashker for assault or murder |G d that
Ashker cannot safely house in any GP as a result, is pretext for retaliation against him for his
participation and activities in this litigation, which are protected under the First'Amendment.
1. ~  Adverse action
The first element of the Rhodes standard requires a showfng that a state actor took an
adverse action. An édverse action is a negative repercussion and “need not be an independent
constitutional violation.” Watison v. Carter, 668 F,3d 1108, 1114-16 (9th Cir. 2012); Hines v.
Gomez, 108 F.3d 265, 269 (9th Cir. 1997). It may be an action that otherwise could be legitimate
when taken for a nﬁnretaliatory reason. See Woods v. Smith, 60 F.3d 1161, 1165 (5th Cir. 1995).
“[T]he mere threat of harm caﬁ be an adverse action in the retaliation context.” Shepard, 840 F.3d
at 689 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).
a. ~ HQ#1 countermand of the ICC decision to release Ashker to GP
Plaintiffs contend thatHQ #1 June 1, 2017, summary countermand of Ashker’s approval
by the ICC for GP housing is an adverse action because it resulted in his retention in ASU.
Plaintiffs have presented Acvidcncc that ASU placement is a negative repercussion because
prisoners enjoy fewer privileges there than in GP. Ashker declares that he cannot participate in
rehabilitation progi‘ams or receive contact visits in ASU. Ashker Decl. 1§ 10-11. Defendants do
not dispute this. ‘ |
"The Court finds and concludes that HQ#1 countermand on June 1, 2017, of the ICC’s
decision to release -f;%"shker to GP, which resulted in his retention in ASU, was an adverse action.

See Shepard, 840 F.3d at 688 (“In Watison v. Carter, we found that being placed in administrative
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segregation constitutes an adverse action.”) (citation omitted). The first element of the Rhodes test

is, therefore, met with respect toHQ #1 countermand of the ICC decision.

b. HQ#4 andHQ#5 DRB recommeéndations that Ashker be
housed in RCGP

Plaintiffs contend thatHQ#4 andHQ#5  recommendations on August 4, 2017, and
May 27,'2021, respectively, to place Ashker in RCGP, and not ip any GP in the state, were
adverse actions because this Court previously held that class members have a liberty interest in
évoiding RCGP placement. In addition, Plaintiffs point to an AB rule that requires || N
I - ouing that this rule means that
Ashker would not te safe in RCGP. Docket No. 1640-2 at 7.

Defendants respond in a footnote in their opposition that they dispute that “assignment to
RCGP housing—which was created and is adx;linistcrcd as Plaintiffs themselves negotiated—is an
adverse action.”” Docket No. 1627-1 at 13 n.5. Defendants say nothing in their briefs about the
AB rule requiring | O :bout
whether this would create safety concerns for Ashker if he were housed in RCGP. During the
hearing held on November 3, 2022, the Court asked Defendants about that alleged AB rule, and
Defendants responded that they are aware of the rule and, without relying on any facts in the
record, stated conclusorily that they would keep Ashker safe in RCGP.

This Court held in 1ts orders granting Plaintiffs’ motions to exterid the séttlement
agreem.ent‘that class members have a liberty interest in avoiding placement and retention in the
RCGP in light of the fewer privileges that prisonérs there enjoy relative to those in GP, See
Docket No. 1440 a1 24; Docket No. 15 79 at 17. That the RCGP was instituted as part of the
settlement of this lawsuit, as an improvement over the former PBSP SHU, does not alter this
conclusion. The Caurt held in'its order grantiné Plaintiffs’ second motiot to e.xtend the settlement
agreement that Defendants systemically deprive class members of m.eaningful periodic review of
their RCGP pIacerrj_ents and that class members are held in RCGP based on historical evidence of
safety concerns without verifying whether those security threats continue to exist, in violation of

Paragraph 27. Docket No. 1579 at.22-31. The record now before the Court contains additional
' 49
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evidence that the RCGP is not being administered as the parties negotiated. As discussed above,

the statements that ocs #3 || GGG succcst that RCGP

placements and retentions are made based on factors that are not contemplated in Paragraph 27,
I [his implies that Defendants may retain
prisoners in RCGP without ve'rifying (;n a periodic basis that threats to their safety continue to
exist, as Paragraph 27 requires. Accordingly, HQ#4 andHQ#5  recommendations to place
Ashker in RCGP are adverse actions that satisfy the first element of the Rhodes test.

2. . Causal connection between adverse action and protected conduct

The Rhodes test requires a showing that there is a causal connection between the adverse
action against the péisoner and the prisoner’s protected conduct. To establish that causal link, a
plaintiff must show that his protected conduct was “the ‘substantial’ or ‘motivating’ factor behind
the defendant’s conduct.” Brodheim v. Cry, 584 F.3d 1262, 1271 (9th Cir. 2009) (citation
omitted). That causal connection establishes a defendant’s retaliatory motive. Shepard, 840 F.3d
at 689 (citations omitted). The causal connection can be established by way of direct evidence,
circumstantial cvidéncc that the defendant’s explanations for the adverse action were pretextual, or
both. Id. at 690; Bruce v. Yist, 351 F.3d 1283, 1289 (9th Cir. 2003).

That the defendant’s explanations for the adverse action were };retextual can be supported
by showing “proximity in time between protected speech and the alleged retaliation.” Shepard,
840 F.3d at 690 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). It can also be established by
showing that the defendant gave inconsistent 61‘ unsupported reasons or explanations for the
adverse action, See.id.; see also Ollier‘ v. Sweetwater Union High School Dist., 768 F.3d 843, 870
(9th Cir. 2014) (holding that defendant’s “shifting, inconsistent reasons . . . are themselves
evidence of pretext”). It can also be established by showing that the defendant attempted to hide
his invelvement in the adverse action or that he circumscribed typical procedures that would have
beer; followed for a typical prisoner. See Prattv. Rowland, 856 F. Supp. 565, 569-570 (N.D. Cal.
1994), rev'd on other grounds, 65 F.3d 802 (9th Cir. 1995) (“Plaintiff’s transfer is particularly

suspect in light of Defendants’ attempt to obscure the origin of the transfer order,” which came in
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“circumvention of normal Departmental Review Board procedures™ as a “direct order from the
Director™). .
a. HQ#1 counten;land of the YCC decision to release Ashker to GP

Plaintiffs contend that the reasons that HQ #1 gave for countermandiﬁg the ICC decision to
release Ashker to GP, namely that he was concerned for Ashker’s safety and had reason to believe
that he would be murdered in GP, were pretextual and were intended to hide the real motive for
his action, which was to retaliate against Ashkgr for his activities and role in this litigation.
Plaintiffs point to the following evidence to support their argument: (1) HQ #1 was aware of
Ashker’s litigation activities and became involved in Ashker’s housing determination only
because of Ashker’s status as a high-profile prisoner; (2) HQ #1 explanation as to why he believed
that Ashker would be assaulted if he were released to GP lacks credibility and is contradicted by
other evidence in the record; (3) HQ #1 spontaneous, summary, and unilateral countermand 'of the
ICC’s decision was not typical of CDCR’s practices; and (4) Defendants’ efforts to hide from
Plaintiffs and the magistrate judge for years that the real reason for Ashker’s remand to ASU on
J 1.me 1, 2017, was that HQ#1 had summarily ordered it.

HQ #1 motivation is rendered suspect in that his involvement on June 1, 2017, in Ashker’s
housing was becauseé of Ashker’s high-profile status due to his litigation activities. HQ#1 was
aware of Ashker’s leadership role in this litigation and in the hunger strikes he organized, which
are related to this litiéation. HQ#1 Dep. Tr. at 8-18, 25-27. HQ#1 testified that he considered
Ashker’s situation “significant” because of his “stature” and that this led him to bé kept “in the
loop™ as to Ashker’s housing. /d, All this suggests that, but for Ashker’s high-profile status, HQ#1
would ﬁot have intervened on June 1, 2017, and Ashker would have remained on the bus to the GP
facility at KVSP pursuant to the ICC’s determination. | ‘ -

For the reasons discussed at length in the Findings of Fact, the Court does not find credible
HQ#1 convoluted rarrative of how he came to belicve that Ashker would be assaulted or killed by
the AB if he were released to GP. His déscription of having talked to two specific staff members
is undermined, if not directly contradicted, by other evidence in the record, including that of

CDCR pcrsofmcl. And,even if it were true thatHQ#1 had spoken with the two different staff
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‘members that Deferdants clai~m he did, the Court is not persuaded that HQ #1had any reasonable
basis to credit or give weight to statements made by these staff members aboz;t Ashker’s safety.
HQ#1 made no attemipt to determine the ICC’s reason for releasing Ashker to GP or the adequacy
of the safety investigation that had already occurred, and he did not himself order a further
investigation into Ashker’s safety. Defendants respondAthat HQ#1 failure to ask for additional
information as to why the ICC had decided to release Ashker is not suspicious or indicative of
pretext because KvsP #1 testified that HQ#1 had “much more experience overall in regards to STGs
and safety concerns” than the ICC had. Docket No. 1627-1 at 15. Tﬁis argument is not persuasive
because Kvsp #1 testified that, in the context of Ashker’s safety concerns, he had more knowledge
than HQ#1] KvsP #1 Dep. Tr. at 155, and that the ICC’s determination to release Ashker to GP
reflected the consensus of KVSP administrators, includinggvsp #1 himself. Kvsp#1 along with
other KVSP administrators, had adopted the recommendation of the KVSP IGI Lieutenant who
investigated Ashker’s safety after ﬁ\ the recommendation was to release
Ashker to GP. kvsp#1 Dep. Tr. at 86-88, 97-98, 130, 134-35, 155. All of this suggests that the
KVSP ICC’s determinatioﬁ to release Ashker to GP on June 1, 2017, which was made pursuant to
the usval ICC procedures, was a reasoned and sensible decision, Most recently, Defendants argue
that HQ#1 explained in his declaration of April 16, 2022, that what he “actually considered” when
reversing the ICC was preventing a murder like that of another prisoner. Docket No. 1627-1 at 15,
For the reasons discus;sed in the Findings of Fact, the Court does not find HQ#1 declaration
testimony about this prisoner, which he failed to ‘mention during his December 2019 deposition
and which he made a few months after other CDCR staff contrédicted his deposition testimony, to
be credibie. Further, that HQ #1 explanations for his actions on June 1, 2017, have shifted over
time further supporfs a finding that such explanations are pretextual. See Ollier,. 768 F.3d at 870
(holding that defendant’s “shifting, inconsistent reasons . . . are themselves; evidence of pretext”).

HQ#1 reversal of the ICC’s decision chme‘relat.ively.close in time to a letter brief that
Plaintiffs filed in this action in March 2017 alleging that Ashker was experiencing retaliation by
KVSP staff for having filed grievances against KVSP staff. See Docket No. 1599-2 (Ex. CF at 3-

4); see also Shepard, 840 F.3d at 690 (“proximity in time between protected speech and the
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. alleged retaliation” is evidence of pretcxtj. This, when combined with all of the other evid?nce
desc;'ibed above, is indicative of a causal connection between HQ#1 reversal of the ICC’s

_decision on June 1, 2017, and Ashker’s ongoing litigation activities in this case, which raises the
inference of an intéﬁt to retaliate against Ashker for those activities.

It was very unusual fo; anyone from CDCR headciuarters to countermand an ICC’s

determination as to a prisoner’s housing, which also is indicative of pretext. See Pratt, 856 F.
Supp. af 569-570. Kvsp#1 could not recall another instance in which “anyone from headquarters
outside of the DRB” overruled his ICC determination of where a prisoner could safely house.
Kvsp#1 Dep. Tr. at 140. It w01-11d seem even more unusual that a high-ranking official from
headquarters would unilaterally, summarily, and spontaneously order a prisoner off the bus to his
new placement, ignoring established procedures and committees for making placement decisions.
Defendants respond that HQ #1 in remanding Ashker to ASU, was complying with California
regulations that require that a prisoner be immediately removed from GP and placed in ASU if
there are concerns for his safety. This argument assuﬁes that HQ #1 had a reasonable basis for
believing that Ashker would not be safe in GP, but the evidence does not support that assumption.
Further, those regulations require that a prisoner placed in ASU be provided with a notice that
includes “sufficient information and detail to allow the inmate to present a written or verbal
defense to the stated reason(s) and circumstances for segregation[.]” See 15 Cal. Code Regs.
§ 3335(b)(1) & (b)(3). The only information that Defendants later provided to Ashker about his
remand to ASU was that the | i icatcd that an additional
investigation into threats to his safety was necéssary, which, as explained in the factual findings
above, was not (and could not have been) the real reason for his return to ASU. That HQ #1
reversal of the ICC’s determination appears to be a deviation from typical practices further
supports the Court’s finding that HQ #1 explanations for his actions on June [, 2017, were
pretextual. See Prait, 856 F. Supp. at 569-570 (attempts to conceal the defendant’s involvement in
allegedly retaliatory action is evidence of pretéxt). ,

Here, Defendants concealed from the magistrate judge and Plaintiffs for years that HQ #1

order had been the reason for Ashker’s remand to ASU. Defendants did not reveal HQ #1
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involvement until after the magistrate judge granted in August 2019, over Defendants’ objections,

Plaintiffs’ motion for discovery in the form of the identification and deposition of the person who
decided to overrule the ICC’s decision on June 1, 2017, to release Ashker to GP at KVSP, See
Docket No. 1203 at 6-8. Defendants’ statements to the magistrate judge in June 2017, and in
various documents pertaining to Ashker’s housing and safety concéms, about N
I 2 ving led to Ashker’s remand to ASU, were misleading, to séy the least. During
the hearing on November 3, 2022, Defendants attributed their failure to disclose HQ #1
involvement to “crossed lines,” without offering any details or further explanation. The Court is
not persuaded that any reasonable explanation exists for Defendants’ failure to disclose HQ #1
order, other than an effort to hide an improper motive onHQ #1 part.

In light of the foregoing, tﬁe Court concludes that Plaintiffs have shown by a
preponderance of the evidence that the reasons Defendants have advanced forHQ #1 countermand
of the ICC’s decision were false and indicative of pretext. That is sufficient for Plaintiffs to

- establish the causation element and requisite retaliatory motive under the Rhodes standard with

respect to this housing determination.

b. HQ #4 DRB determination that Ashker cannot safely house in
any GP and recommendation that he be housed in RCGP

Plaintiffs contend that the safety rationale thatHQ #4 provided for her August 4, 2017,
DRB recommendation to place Ashker in RCGP was pretextual and was intended to hide the real
motivation for her recommendation, which was to support and perpetuate Defendants’ retaliation
against Ashker for kis activities and role in this Jitigation. Plaintiffs point to the following
evidence to suppor: their argument: (1)HQ#4 admitted during her deposition that retaliation
against Ashker by KVSP staff played a role in her RCGP recommendation; (2) headquarters was
involved in the pre;;aration work for the August 4, 2017, DRB to an unusual degree and directed
whét was written about Ashker’s safety in documents relevant to his housing; (3) the final DRB
chrono, which was;reviewed and approved by HQ #4 | omitted accurate information that supported .
‘a finding that Ashker would nof be unsafe in GP, as well as the CSU’s rccommcndqtion prior to

the DRB hearing to release Ashker to GP; and (4) the explanations thatHQ #4 gave during her
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deposition for having concluded that Ashker would be unsafe in GP are not credible and are
inconsistent .with other evidence.

The Court does not credit the explanations that HQ #4 provided during her deposition for
concluding that Ashker would be targeted by the AB | NG Some of the
reasons she pro(rideci are not consistent with other facts in the record or are atypical grounds for
finding that a prisoner cannot safely house in GP, which is indicative that such reasons are
pretextual, See Ollier, 768 F.3d at 870 (holdiﬁg that defendant’s “shifting, inconsistent reasons
. . . are themselves evidence of pretext”). Further, the record sugge‘sts. thatnQ#4 DRB
determination was driven by motives other than the safety concerns that she claims to have been
exclusively guided by. WhenHQ #4 made her DRB determination, she was aware of Ashker’s
role in this litigation and of grievances that Ashker had filed in 2017 against KVSP staff for
alleged retaliation against him, and she admitted that her DRB determination was influenced by
Ashker’s grievances and litigation activities.

As discussed in the Findings of Fact, the evidence strongly suggests that high-ranking
CDCR headquarters employees involved themselves in investigations of Ashker’s safety to an
unusual degree and steered the findings to create a record that Ashker would be unsafe in GP. The
final DRB chrono that HQ #4 reviewed and approved furthered these efforts, in a deviation from
typical practices. See Pratt, 856 F. Supp. at 569-570 (circumvention of typical procedures is -
evidence of pretext}. The final DRB chrono omitted information that the CSU correctional
counselor had intended, pursuant to typical prallctices, to be included; the omitted information
ihdicated that Ashker would not be unsafe in GP, that Ashker had ||
I 2nd that the CSU had recommended toHQ #4  before the DRB hearing that
Ashker be released to GP. The reasons that D2fendants have advance;d for why this information
was omitted from the final chrono are not persuasive, as discussed in the Findings of Fact.

The final DRB chrono that HQ #4 approved also contained misleading statements as to
why the second invéstigation into Ashker’s sa?ety was initiated and it did not reveal either that
Ashker. had been remanded to ASU because ofHQ #1 order or the reasoning that HQ#1 had

provided for doing so. It is suspect that, whenHQ #4 was asked during her deposition why she
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had approved a DRB chrono that contained these misleading statements, she failed to answer the
qu;astion directly, ar'ld instead attempted to justify HQ #1 reversal of the ICC on June 1, 2017, by
testifying that the person who had served as ICC chair that day was an assistant warden and was
insufficiently qualified. HQ#4  testimony that an assistant warden served as the ICC chair is
contyadicted by other evidence. HQ#4  efforts, in a document she approved, to hide HQ #1
involvement in Ashker’s June 2017 remand to AéU, and later to try to justify HQ #1 action, is
consistent with an effort to further and perpetuate HQ #1 retaliatory actions against Ashker. See
Pratt, 856 F. Supp. at 569-570 (attempts to conceal the defendant’s involvement in allegedly
retaliatery action is evidence of pretext and retaliatory motive).

Plaintiffs requested that the Court draw an adverse inference of retaliatory motive on
Defendants” part, based on Defendants’ failure to preserve notes that HQ #8 took during a pre-DRB
hearing that took place on August 3, 2017, as detailed in the Findings of Fact. It is undispﬁted thgt
Defendants had notice that these notes were relevant to Ashker’s retaliation allegations; Plaintiffs
had moved. on June 14, 2017, to enjoin alleged retaliation. See Docket No. 712. Plaintiffs have
shown that they were prejudiced by Defendants’ failure to preserve these notes, because HQ #8
testified that she could not recall what took place during the meeting. See HQ #8 Dep. Tr. at 177-
82. The mate.rial changes that were made to the DRB chrono prior to its issuance to Ashker likely
were made or discussed during this meeting, and HQ #8  notes of the meeting, therefore, could
have revealed information that could have assisted Plaintiffs fn establishing retaliation in violation
of Paragraph 54. A;:cordingly, the Court grants Plaintiffs’ request in part and draws a weak
inference that, had HQ #8 notes been preserved, they would have revealed additional evidence
that would help establish the causal element of the Rhodes standard. This is not a presumptive
inference but a common-sense evidentiary rationale. See Akiona v. United States, 938 F.2d 158,
161 (9th Cir. 1991) (holding that a court may draw an adverse inference based on an>“cvidemiary :
rationale” whiﬁh is “nothing more than the comm;)n sense observation that a party who has notice
that a document is relevant to litigation and who proceeds to destroy the document is more likely
to have been threatened by the document than is a party in the same position who docs not destroy

the document™),
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The Court concludes that Plaintiffs have shown by a preponderance of the evidence that
the safety rationale that Defendants have advanced forHQ #4  August 4, 2017, recommendation
| to place Ashker in RCGP is pretextual. That satisfies the causation element of the Rhodes

standard for proof of retaliation for protected activity, with respect to this housing determination.

‘€. HQ#5  DRB determination that Ashker cannot safely house in
any GP and should be housed in RCGP

Plaintiffs contend that the reason that Defendants provided fornQ#s  May 27, 2021,
DRB recommendation to place Ashker in RCGP, which was that she was concerned that he would
be assaulted or murdered in GP in the absence of new evidence that he had resolved his issues
with the AB, was pretextual and intended to hide the real motivation for her recommendation.
Plaintiffs contend that HQ #5  real motivation was to support and further Defendants’ retaliation
against Ashker for his activities and role in this litigation. Plaintiffs argue that pretext can be
inferred from the fact that HQ #5 failed to credit more recent evidence indicating that Ashker was
in good standing with the AB. Plaintiffs contend that HQ #5  stated reason for failing to
consider the recent evidence is inconsistent with other evidence in the record, including the
deposition testimony of oCs #1 ‘ andHQ #8  Plaintiffs argue that, instead, HQ #5 relied on
historical evidence that pre-dates the October 2019 liti gation hold.

As discussed in the Findings of Fact, the evidence suggests that HQ #5 participated in
Defendants’ efforts to hide HQ#1 involvement in Ashker’s June 2017 remand to ASU and to
further HQ #1 retaliation against Ashker by helping to perpetuate the pretextual reasoning for
keeping Ashker from residing in GP. She was privy to HQ #1 communications regarding
ﬁand HQ#1 email about the need to devise a “plan” about Ashker after
I Shc provided inaccurate information to the magistrate jﬁdge about why
Ashker had been remanded to ASU and why a second invéstigation into threats to his safety was
necessary. HQ#5  participation in Defendants’ efforts to hide HQ #1 involvement in Ashker’s
remand to ASU supports an inference that the safety rationale for the May 27, 2021, DRB

recommendation for RCGP placement was pretext for Defendants’ ongoing retaliation against
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Ashker, which began with HQ #1 summary remand of Ashker to ASU on June 1, 2017, See Pratt,
856 F. Supp. at 569-570.

HQ#s refused to credit recent confidential information that Ashker was not a target of the
AB and was in good standing with the group, and she did so on the basis that the information was
from 2013 and not indicative of whether Ashker was currently being targeted. But HQ #5
interpretation of the confidential information is inconsistent with that of other skilled CDCR staff,
including correctional counselor HQ #8 and Defendants’ prison gang expertocs #1 | HQ#8 and
ocs#1  both testified that they understood the information to reflect the confidential informant’s
knowledge of Ashker’s safety as of the date of his interview, which took place in 2021,
Accordingly, the reason she provided for not crediting the confidential information that Ashker is
in good standing with the AB is not credible. '

HQ#5 | appears to have deviated from typical practices and procedures by conducting her
own inyestigation into the accuracy and reliability of the confidential information although that
task is iypically performed by lower-level staff; she appears to have relied on a transcript that was
not documented in the DRB chrono she approved although all documents considered by the DRB
are supposed to be aescribed in the DRB chrono. This further supports an inference that the safety
rationale underlying the DRB recommendation for RCGP placement was pretextual. See Pratt,
856 F. Supp. at 569-70 (bircumvention of normal procedures is evidence of pretext).

Additionally, the historical evidence of safety threats that the DRB recommendation for
RCGP placement relied upon originated from confidential memoranda or reports generated prior
to October 2019, at which time the litigation hold was instituted to prevent the destruction of
source recordings end documents. The Court has found that the reliability of such memoranda and
reports as to whether Ashker is, in fact, unsafe as a result o_ is
questionable in Iighf of the many material disére;-)ancies that Plaintiffs presented. The reliability
of such memorands, and reports is questionaBle for the additional re.lason that, since October-2019,
when Defendants implemented the litigation hold, there have been no more confidential
memoranda or debrief reports indicating that Ashker.is targeted by the AB. That raises an

inference that the inaccuracies in the confidential source memoranda and reports produced before
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the litigation hold, indicating that Ashker was being targeted by the AB, were intentional
misrepresentations aimed at generating a record that would support a pretextual safety-related
rationale for placing Ashker in RCGP. | |
Defendants respond that the May 27, 2021, DRB recommendation that Ashker be placed in
RCGP because he could not safely reside in any GP, was appropriate and justified. They contend
thatﬁ made him a target for assault or murder by
the group; that historical confidential evidence indicated that he was being targeted by the AB for
I 0 that the “lack of more recent evidence of the threat to Ashker is not
evidence of the threat’s absence.” Docket No. 1627-1 at 19. The Court is not persuaded.
Defendants® argument assumes t};at AB rules are enforced without exception but, as discussed

above, the record does not support that assumption. Defendants have not disputed evidence of

case-by-case enforcement of AB rules, including the rules | S

M. They o not dispute evidence that GG
B did not result in assaults in GP on the AB members who committed such

infractions. That undisputed evidence, which was not considered by Defendants’ prison gang
expert, undermines the theory that Ashker will be targeted by the AB ﬁ
I Dcoicndants’ argument also assumes that the historical confidential
information indicating that Ashker was being targeted by the AB |G
rciiablc, but the Court has found that it is not;

Plaintiffs rc:quested that the Court infer retaliatory motive based on Defendants’ failure to
preserve récordings of confidential-source interviews that relate to Ashker’s safety that existed or
were created as of June 14, 2017, the date when Plaintiffs moved to enjoin retaliation against
Ashker. The Court grants that request in part. Plaintiffs have shown, and Defendants have not
disputed, that Defendants had notice that such recordings were relevant to this litigation as of June
14, 2017, when Plaintiffs first moved to enjoin retaliation against Ashker in his housing |
placements. Further, the Court finds that Plaintiffs were prejudicéd by the destruction of these
recordings because:it prevented them from testing the accuracy of the confidential memoranda and

reports generated batween June 14, 2017, and October 2019, when the litigation hold was
' 59 '
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implcmented,‘ that vzere used to recommend that Ashker be placed in RCGP.> The Court will,
accordingly, infer that, had these'recordings béen preserved, they would have revealed additional
evidence that would have helped Plaintiffs establish the causation element under the Rhodes
standard. See 4dkiona, 938 F.2d at 161. The Court does not infer that these recordings, on their
own, would have established the causation element under the Rhodes standard for any of the
housing determinations at issue.
The Court concludes that Plaintiffs have shéwn bS/ a preponderance of the evidence that
the safety rationale that Defendants have advanced for the May 27, 2021, DRB recommendation
that Ashker be placed in RCGP is pretextual. That is sufficient for Plair;tiffs to establish the
| causation element of the Rhodes standard with respect to this housing determination.
3. Harm
The Rhodes test requires that the adverse action would have “chilled or silenced a person
of ordiﬁary firmness” from exercising their rights. Watison, 668 F.3d at 1114. “[T]he harm need
only be ‘more than minimal.”” Shepard, 840 F.3d at 691; see also Brodheim v. Cry, 584 F.3d
1262, 1271 (9th Cir. 2009) (“In Rhodes, we explicitly held that an objective standard governs the ‘
chilling inquiry; a plaintiff do;s not have to show that ‘his speech was actually inhibited or
suppressed,” but rather that the adverse-action at issue ‘would chill or silence a person of ordinary
firmness from future First Amendment activities.””) (cit‘ation omitted). “[A] plaintiff who fails to
allege a chilling effect may still state a claim if he alleges he suffered some other harm.”
Brodheim, 584 F.3d at 1269.
| P_laintiffs argue that “CDCR’s actions resulted in Ashker being barred from return to GP,
causing him great harm.” Docket No. 1594-2 at 19. They argue that “[t]he rumors and falsified
information spread by KVSP staff also have caused Ashker substantial harm.” Id.

Defendants do not respond to these arguments.

% In their supplemental brief, Defendants did not address Plaintiffs’ request for an adverse
inference based on the destruction of recordings. See Docket No. 1728.
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The Court finds and concludes that, due to the GP privileges of which prisoners in ASU ~
and RCGP are deprived, the adverse actions at issue would have chilled or silenced a prisoner of
ordinary firmness. The actions have caused Ashker harm in the form of the loss of those
privileges. Accordingly, the harm element of the Rhodes standard is met.

4. ._‘ Advancement of a legitimate correctional goal

The Rhodes test requires that the adverse action did not “reasonably advance a legitimate
correctional goal.” Rhodes, 408 F.3d at 567-68. Plaintiffs have cited authorities, which
" Defendants have not distinguished, holding that an adverse action does not advance a legitimate
correctional goal if the adverse action was retaliatory. See Shepard, 840 F.3d at 692 (“As Bruce
recognized, a prison official who uses a valid procedure as subterfuge to obscure retaliation
‘cannot assert that [his action] served a valid penological purpose, even though [the prisoner] may
have arguably ended up where he belonged.””) (citing Bruce, 351 F.3d at 1289); Bruce; 351F.3d
at 1289 (“It is clear, and Bruce concedes, that prisons have a legitimate penological interest in .
stopping prison gang activity. But, if, in fact, the defendants abused the gang validation procedure
as a cover or a ruse to silence and punish Bruce because he filed grievances, they cannot assert
that Bruce’s validation served a valid penological purpose, even though he may have arguably
ended up where he belonged.”) (internal citatic;n omitted); Rizzo v. Dawson, 778 F.2d 527, 532
(9th Cir. 1985) (“[P]laintiff has alleged that [a prison official’s] actions were retaliatory and were
arbitrary and capricious. He has tﬁereby sufficiently alleged that the retaliatory acts were not a
reasonable exercise of prison authority and that they did not serve any legitimate correctional
goal.”). ‘

Defendants argue that the housing placements at issue were for the legitimate penological
purpose of kceping Ashker safe.

For the reasans discussed above, the Court has found and concluded that the safety
ratiof)ale that Deferdants have advanced for the housing placements at issue is a pretext for
retaliation against Ashker for his participation and litigation activities in this case. Accordingly,

Defendants cannot sstablish that the housing placements at issue advanced a valid penological
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purpose, even if he arguably ended up where he belonged. See Shepard, 840 F.3d at 692; Bruce,
351 F.3d at 1289; Rizzo, 778 F.2d at 532.

Further, as discussed in detail above, the Court is not persuaded that the record supports
. the conclusion that Ashker is being targeted by the AB I Bt for o series
of purported coincidenées that HQ#1 claims led him to countermand the ICC’s decision on June 1,
2017, Ashker would have been released to GP on that date despite [ R

I e [CC’s decision was made pursuant to standard procedures. It

reflected the reasoned judgment of KVSP’s IGI Lieutenant, warden, and other KVSP
administrators and, therefore, appears to have been a sensible and well-supported determination.
The totality of the evidence before the Court strongly suggests that, sihce HQ #1 countermanded the
ICC’s decision on June 1, 2017, for reasons that this Court has found to be pretextual, Defendants’
investigations of Ashker’s safety, their generation of relevant documents, and their housing -
determinations have resulted in the creation of an inaccurate and incomplete record, in order to
subport Ashker’s placement in RCGP. For that reason, the Court is not persuaded that the record
that was generated since HQ #1 intervention on June 1, 2017, is an accurate or reliable basis for

determining whether Ashker is a target of the AB || NG

Additionally, the Court also is not persuaded that, even if Ashker were under threat by the

"AB I COCR would not be able to keep him safe in any GP yard in
the state. The record shows that CSU staff identified at different points various GP yards where

Ashker could safely live [ - T o: cxample, in
preparation for Ashker’s May 27, 2021, DRB, CSU recommended certain Level IV and Level 11
GP facilitics where Ashker could program in the event that the “DRB determine[d] that Ashker
can be éafely released to a GP upon further evaluation of the e.vidence[.]” Docket No. 1598 at
ECF header page 29 (Ex. AW). HQ#5 did not consider any of those GP options, persisting in her
conclusion that “the RCGP remains appropriate.” Id. at 30-31. Defendants have not explained
why these GP yards are not viable alternatives to RCGP placement. Defendants’ failure to

meahingfu['ly consider these GP options constitutes further evidence that their aim is not to find a
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safe GP placement for Ashker, but to further the retaliatory conduct that began when HQ #1
remanded him to ASU on June 1,2017. '
IV. Remedies

Under Paragraph 53, the Court may issue an order “to achieve substantial compliance with
the Agreement’s terms” if Plaintiffs have established by a preponderance of the evidence that
Defendants have not substantially complied with those terms. SA  53.

Here, the parties are in agreement that the appropnate remedy for rctallatlon in violation of
Paragraph 54 would be to restore Ashker to a posmon where he would have been but for the
retaliation.

Plaintiffs recliest an order (1) declaring that Defendants have retaliated against Ashker in
violation of Paragraph 54; (2) requiring Defendants to place Ashker in a GP; and (3) requiring the
parties to meet and confer “to ensure that [Ashker’s] interests in safety and appropriate

programming are taken into account in these remedial measures.” Proposed Order, Docket No.

1601-5. Plaintiffs also request that [ R
]
Docket No. 1594-2 at 25. Plaintiffs did not explain what_
_ Plaintiffs suggest that, in ordering that Defendants place Ashker in GP,
“the Court could consider appointing an expert or special master to evaluate which prisons and
proérarﬁs would be appropriate.” Id.

Defendants oppose Plaintiffs’ requested remedies because they would order Defendants to
“éelective‘ly edit CDCR records and to micromanage Ashk‘er’s housing by ordering a discretionary
behavioral override to house him at a lower-leve! institution than he was assigned to in 2017,”
which Defendants contend amounts to “overreach.” Docket No. 1627-1 at 25. Defendants further
argue, “The only relief to which Ashker could be entitled is for the Court to order his return to a
Level IV GP facility, despite CDCR’s assessment that Ashker will be murdered by the AB.” Id.

In their reply, Plaintiffs propose a “bifurcated resolution of this Motion, whereby the Court
first determines whether to issue a declaration that retaliation has occurred and then determines

remedy.” Docket No. 1640-2 at 15. They state that tﬂey “would be open to meeting and
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1 conferring to resolve the placement issue without the need for a specific order, and/or the
2 appointment of an expert or special master.” Id
3 Because Plaintiffs’ request for an order declaring that Defendants retaliated against Ashker
4 || inviolation of Paragraph 54 is justified in light of the above findings and conclusions, the Court
5 GRANTS that request and declares that Defendants retaliated against Ashker in violation of
6 || Paragraph 54 of the SA in making the three housing decisions at issue.
7 The Court also GRANTS Plaintiffs’ request to proceed with a bifurcated approach that
8 || requires the parties to meet and confer with respect to Plaintiffs’ other requested remedies. The
9 || Court DEFERS ruling on those other requested remedies until the parties have met and conferred.
0 CONCLUSION
I1 For the reasons discussed above, the Court accepts the magistrate judge’s proposed
12 || findings in part and rejects them in part. The Court accepts the magistrate J:udge’s
13 || recommendation to deny PIaiptiffs’ motion to exclude ocs #1 expert opinions. The Court
14 || otherwise declines to accept the magistrate judge’s proposed findings and recommendations, and
15 || concludes that Plaintiffs have established by a prep.onderance of the evidence that Defendants
16 || substantially failed to comply with SA Paragraph 54°s anti-retaliation provision with respect to
17 || Ashker’s h(')using b!acemcnts. The Court GRANTS Plaintiffs’ request for an order declaring that
18 || Defendants retaliated against Ashker for his participation and activities in this action, which are
19 || protected under the First Amendment. The Court DEFERS its consideration of Plaintiffs’ other
20 || requested remedies. The parties shall meet and confer no later than thirty days of the date of this
21 order, to try to agree on an appropriate hoﬁsing placement for Ashker and Plaintiffs’ request for
22 | I [hc partics sl;all file a joint or separate statements,
23 || informing the Court of the outcome of their meet-and-confer efforts and proposing further steps,
24 || no later than forty-five days of the date of this order.
25 This order shall be filed under seal in the first instance such that only counsel for the
26 || patties will be granied access to it. Within twehty-onc days of the date this order is filed under
27 || seal, the parties shail file a joint motion to redact portions of the order if redactions are necessary
28 || for a legitimate perological purpose, such as ensuring the safety of any class member or CDCR
64




United States District Court
Northern District of California

Case 4:09-cv-05796-CW Document 1877-1 Filed 06/08/23 Page 66 of 66

Cdse 4:09-cv-05796-CW Document 1750 *SEALED*  Filed 01/05/23 Page 65 of 65

—

staff or institutions. The joint motion shall be accompanied by a proposed order and shall include
as an a&achment a redacted version of this order that reflects the parties” proposed redactions. If
no redactions are necessary, the parties shall, within ten days of the date this order is filed under
seal, file a stipulation providing that no redactions are necessary and a proposed order that the
order can be filed on the docket without any redactions.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

. . 1

Clayielb~—

Dated: 1/5/2023 .
) CLAUDIA WILKEN

United States District Judge
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